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I MISSION STATEMENTI 

Carver Bancorp, Inc. is the holding company 
of Carver Federal Savings Bank, a federally 
chartered savings bank. Carver was foundcd 
53 years ago by visionary community leaders 
to serve the financial services needs of 
African- and Caribbean-Americans in New 
York City. Today, Carver is thc largest 
publicly traded African- and Caribbean- 
American run financial institution in the 
United Statcs. 

Carver Fedcral Savings Bank is an urban 
community development bank dedicated to 
providing a full range of financial services to 
its customers. Carver is committed to 
meeting the credit needs of the coinmunitics it 
serves, increasing protkdility and cnhancing 
stockholder value. 



I LETTER FROM ‘rHk C H A I R M A N  A N D  ‘rHk PKESIUENT & cL.c) 

- 

near Carver Stockholder, 

Fiscal 2003 was another successful year for Carver. In addition to posting the second highest year of 
profitability in the Company’s history, Carver launched online banking, introduced a debit card, 
implemented a comprehensive re-branding campaign and established a new 24/7 ATM Center in 
Bedford-Stuyvesant. The Company’s strong performance led the Board of Directors to establish a 
quarterly dividend. In addition, the tinancial analyst community began to take note of Carver’s 
achievements as did the local and industry press. These and other factors contributed to a significantly 
increased stock price. 

This year’s performance was achieved despite the backdrop of a challenging interest rate environment and 
a national and New York City recession. As before, we concluded that the best course of action was to 
focus on consistent execution of the business strategy on which we embarked in June of 1999 -- to create 
a customer-driven and efficient operating platform, to leverage our unique customcr and market 
knowledge and to provide a full menu of financial products for our customers. 

A summary of the Company’s progress since our last letter to you is provided below. 

Record profits. 
Fiscal 2003’s profits were second only to fiscal 2002’s as the highest level of profitability in the 
Company’s history. Carver reported net income available to common stockholders of $3.6 million, 
or $1.52 per diluted common share, in fiscal 2003 down from net income available to common 
stockholders of $4.5 million, or $1.89 per diluted common share, in fiscal 2002. Because of net 
gains on asset sales recognized during tiscal 2002 and the Company’s fiscal 2003 obligation to 
begin to accrue for federal taxes, net income available to comnion stockholders declined in tiscal 
2003 compared to fiscal 2002. 

Return on averagc assets decreased to 0.83% for tiscal 2003 compared to 1 .  I I %  for fiscal 2002 
while return on average equity decreased to 9.77 % compared to 13.78% over the same period. 

The Company is also off to a strong start for fiscal 2004. During the first three months of fiscal 
2004, nct income available to common stockholders was $1 .0 million, or $0.42 per diluted common 
share, compared to $825,000, or $0.35 per diluted common share, during the first three months of 
fiscal 2003. 

Substantial value creation lor  stockholders. 
For tiscal 2003, stockholders’ equity increased $4.3 million, or 1 1 .So/, to $4 1.1 million compared 
to $36.7 million at March 3 1, 2002. 

For the first three months of fiscal 2004, stockholders’ equity increased $582,000, or I .4%, lo $41.7 
mi 11 ion. 



In April 2003, the Board of Directors established a regular quarterly dividend in an amount to be 
determined each quarter, based on the Company’s strong quarterly performance, solid capital 
position and the Board’s confidcnce in the Company’s future. The Board subsequently declared a 
$0.05 per share cash dividend for the quarters cndcd March and Junc 2003. This compares to the 
Company’s previous practice in which the Company declared a $0.05 per share cash dividend 
annually on its common stock. 

In addition, Carver’s profile in the tinancial community has grown considerably. Ovcr the past 
year, Keefe, Bruyette & Woods, Inc. and The Chapman Company, both invcstinent banks focuscd 
on financial services firms, initiated or cxpanded coverage of Carver. 

. Increased net interest margin. 
Our net intcrest margin increased to 4.26% in fiscal 2003 from 4.05% in fiscal 2002. Net interest 
incoinc before provisions increased 13.5% in fiscal 2003 coniparcd to fiscal 2002. Wc achieved 
these results against our objectivc of maintaining a stable net interest margin in a challenging 
economic environment characterized by continued declines in intercst rates, signiticnnt competition 
for loan originations, high prepayments of mortgage loans and securities and declining investinciit 
yields. 

The challengc lo maintain a stable net interest margin remained significant in the first quarter of 
fiscal 2004. Net interest income before provisions decreased 5.8% during the first thrcc months of 
fiscal 2004 over the comparable prior year period, as interest rate declines and competitive 
pressures continued. We remain focused on effectivc balance sheet inanagcinent by continuing our 
emphasis on solid underwriting of re-priccablc loans, emphasizing re-priceablc asscts in our 
investment portfolio, restructuring our deposit rates where possible, and Icvcraging our balance 
sheet to purchase investments when spreads arc attractive. 

Carver originated loans of $59.6 million during fiscal 2003 coinpared to $65.9 million in fiscal 
2002, a decline of9.6%. Loan originations during the tirst thrcc months of fiscal 2004 were $12.6 
inillion compared to $19.4 million during the tirst three months of fiscal 2003. Whilc loan 
prepayments rcmain high relative to historical standards, our ability to supplement originations with 
quality loan purchases resulted in net loans receivablc increasing by $9.6 niillion for the first 
quarter of fiscal 2004 compared to March 3 I ,  2003. 

. Realized greater internal efficiencies. 
Our continued emphasis on cost containment coupled with improved revenues reduccd the 
Company’s cfficiency ratio to 68.2% in fiscal 2003 compared to 77.9% i n  fiscal 2002. Whilc 
improvements continue to bc made, bringing Carver’s efticiency ratio into line with industry peers 
remains a priority for Carver. 

Non-interest expense decreased 3.0% to $3.7 million during the first three months of fiscal 2004 
coinpared to the prior year period as tlic Company eftkicntly completed advertising campaigns and 
increased consulting expenses related to establishment of the Bank’s real estate investment trust. 
The efficiciicy ratio improved to 69.3% from 70.5% during the prior year pcriod, reflecting our 
progress in overall revenue growth and cost containment. 

Increased fee income. 
We continue to focus on opportunities to further develop recurring fcc income from fccs related to 
our deposit products, loan originations and ATM utilization. Excluding non-rccurring items, non- 
interest income increased $1.0 million, or 43.7%, to $3.2 million for t’iscal 2003 compared to $2.2 
tnillioii for the prior year period. 
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Non-interest income increased 19.6% to $1.1 million in the first three months of fiscal 2004 
compared to $953,000 in thc prior year period. This increase is a result of loan prepayment 
penaltics, increased ATM transactions based on the performance of our Bedford-Stuyvcsant and 
Malcolm X Boulevard 24/7 ATM Centers, growth in debit card income, and the rcvarnped fee 
structure on our deposit and loan products. 

Improved asset quality. 
Asset quality remains strong. As a result, the Company did not provide provisions for loan losses in 
fiscal 2003 compared to a $900,000 loan loss provision for fiscal 2002. The Company experienced 
a net recovery to allowanccs for loan losscs for fiscal 2003 of $30,000. At March 3 1,  2003, non- 
performing loans totaled $1.8 million, or 0.6 1 % of total loans receivable, comparcd to $2.8 million, 
or 0.96% of total loans receivable, at March 31, 2002, resulting in a ratio of allowance to non- 
performing loans of 230.7% at March 31, 2003 compared to 146.2% at March 31, 2002. 

The Company did not provide for additional provisions for loan losses for the first three months of 
fiscal 2004. The allowance for loan losscs decreased $35,000 due to nct charge-offs in the first 
quarter of fiscal 2004. At June 30, 2003, non-performing assets totaled $ I  .8 million, or 0.59% of 
total loans receivable, resulting in a ratio of allowance to non-performing loans of 228.5% 

Expanded delivery channels. 
Carver succcssfull y launchcd Online Banking in the second quarter of fiscal 2003 which aligns 
Carver with services provided by our larger competitors. Carver’s enhanced website, 
wwwxarvcrbank.com, features unique sections including urban financial news focused on local and 
other urban businesses, financial literacy tools, and the latest information about the neighborhoods 
Carver serves. In addition, Carver opened its first free-standing 24/7 ATM Center on West 125t” 
Street near Amsterdam Avenue in Harlem in the first quarter of fiscal 2004. 

Expandedproduct ogerings. 
The Carver Debit Card was launched in the second quarter of fiscal 2003. It has been well received 
by our customers and usage ofthe card continues to increase, making it a growing contributor to the 
Company’s fee income. 

L Strengthened leadership team. 
The hallmark of our success in recent ycars has been Carver’s willingness to invest in people with 
the skills to drive our strong pcrformance. In addition to hiring Catherine A. Papayiannis as Chief 
Opcrating Officer, we were pleased during fiscal 2003 to name James H. Rason as Senior Vice 
President and Chief Lending Of’fcer and Brian J. Maher as Senior Vice President and Chief Credit 
Officer. A11 are seasoned banking executives whose cxpcrience is helping Carver enhance its 
operations. 

Focus on the Year Ahead 
With the Bank’s turnaround behind us we are focused on growth, generating continued earnings growth 
for Carver and stockholder returns that not only meet but exceed our industry peers. We recognize, 
however, that our efforts will continue to take place in an uncertain economic and interest rate 
environment and in a context of increased conipctition in the inncr city communities we serve. Over the 
next year we are working to: 
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Provide effective hulunce sheet management. The current interest rate environment will require 
even greater attention to the Bank’s sensitivity to interest rate changes and asset allocation. In the 
first three months of this year we continue to evaluate the tradeoffs inherent in originating and/or 
purchasing loans, including our spread and asset quality objectives. Where appropriate, we have 
purchased re-priceable securities to enhance our tlexibility and mitigate interest rate risk in a rising 
rate environment. While we believe that the conservatism of our balance sheet positions us well for 
this challeiiging environment, we will continuously evaluate the Company’s asset allocation based 
on our analysis of yield and risk. 

Expand delivery channels. Prudently expanding our presence in our communities is the most 
direct way to reinforce Carver’s identity as the financial institution of choice in its markets and 
expand market share. Carver thcrcfore continues to evaluate further sites appropriate for frcc- 
standing 24/7 ATM Ccntcrs and full service branches to expand our presence in core geographic 
markets. Over the next 24 months we intend to open three new 24/7 ATM Centers and three full 
service branches in north Harlem, Brooklyn and Queens. 

Expand our producf ojjering. We continue to evaluate the launch of additional products through 
strategic outsourcing partnerships with other financial institutions. In particular, in fiscal 2004 we 
intend to introduce the Carvcr Credit Card followed by insurance products and annuities with 
providers who can efficiently and effectively deliver relevant products to our customers without 
Carver taking on significant additional transaction or credit risk. These products are important to 
building fee income from existing customers as wcll as drawing new customers to thc Bank. 

Market our brand efiectively. During the first half of fiscal 2003, the Company worked with a 
marketing firm to re-brand Carver, including developing a new logo featured above and the 
advertising messages, “Our Branches Have Deep Roots” and “Building Wealth Block By Block.” 
These steps were warmly received by our customers and noted in the communities in which we 
serve. In the coining year we expect to continue grass roots advertising along with other “hands on” 
strategies to introduce the “new” Carver to prospective customers. 

In closing, we are excited about this important year for Carver as we move aggressively to expand our 
presence in inncr city markets. With momentum building from our financial performance and the addition 
of key senior managers to our team, a strong foundation has been built for a strong and promising future. 
In the coming year we will be fully engaged in successfully executing our business strategy and working 
to develop Carvcr into one of the foremost community banks in the country. As we do so, our entire 
Board and management teain remains committed to creating increased value for our stockholders and our 
coinmun ity . 

On behalf of the entire Chrvcr team, thank you for your continued support of Carver 

<- Sincerely, --\ 

w 
Deborah C. Wright 
President & Chief Executive Officer 

August 12,2003 
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

The following tables set forth ccrtain infomation concerning the consolidatcd tinancial condition, carnings 
and other data regarding Carver Rancorp, Inc. at the datcs and for the periods indicatcd. The financial 
information should be read in conjunction with the consoldiated financial statements and notes thcrcto 
included elsewhcrc herein. 

Three Months Endin 
June 30, At or for the Fiscal Year Ended Mnrch 31, 

2003 2003 2002 2001 2000 
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data) 

Selected Financial Condition Data: 
Assets 
Total loans 
Securities 
Cash and cash cquivalents 
Dcposits 
Borrowed funds 
Stockholdcrs' cquity 
Numbcr of deposit accounts 
Number ot'ol'lices 

$ 515,052 
306,402 
160,804 
27,681 

362,848 
102, I Y 5  
41,655 
41,186 

$ 509,845 
296,896 
165,585 
23,160 

347,164 
108,996 
41,073 
4 1,220 

$ 450,306 
293,838 
105,464 
3435 1 

324,954 
75,651 
36,742 
41,200 

$ 424,500 
286,Y88 

87,788 
3 1,758 

279,424 
105,600 
32,096 
44,75 I 

$ 420,119 
273,083 
104,177 
22,202 

281,941 
98,578 
32,641 
54,597 

5 5 5 5 7 

I To fa[ Assets 

II $509,845 $515,052 

$450,306 
s420.119 s424750o 

I 2000 zoo1 2002 2003 lrtQtr200 

I/ Reiurn an Averuge Equiq 
13.78% 

10.50% 
9.11% 

= 
' -0.89% ' 

-3.29% 

1306.492 

$ZY6,1196 
S293.138 

$2116,91111 

S213.083 

inno 2001 2002 2003 latQtr200 

$312,141 
$347.164 

$324.954 

$2$1,941 $279,424 

moo 2001 2002 2003 l a i ~ t r t o o  

Non-Performing Asseis io Toid Eflciency Ratio 1 1 1  104.31 
96.93 

77.89 

68.16 6928 

Loans Receivable 
1.12% II 

I I I  I 



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (cont.) 

Selected Operating Data: 
Interest iiicoiiie 
Interest expense 
Net interest iiicotnc 
Provision for Inn11 l o s w  
Net intercu iticoitic ancr provision for loan losses 
Noli-interest iticornc 
Non-interest cxpcnses 
Income (loss) before income taxes 
Income tax (benefit) 
Net income (loss) 
IXlntcd camings (loss) per coininon share 

Three Months Endin 

June 30, 

2003 

I 6.402 
2,230 
4,172 

4, I72 
1,140 
3,680 
1,632 

554 

% 0.42 
I I ,078 

At or for the Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 

2003 2002 2001 2000 

(Dollaru in thousands. except per shire data) 

$ 27,378 $ 28,254 I 28,307 $ 27,367 
8,983 I 2,047 14,278 14,009 

I 8,395 16,207 14,029 13,358 
900 1,793 1.099 

18,395 15,307 12,236 12,259 
3,161 4,485 2,934 2,539 

14,692 14,198 I5,4h I 15,823 
6,864 5,594 (29 1 I (1.025) 
3,033 " 88 1 98 110 

B 3,831 I- $ 4,713 $ (389) 1 
I 1.52 $ 1.89 $ (0.26) $ (0.53) 

~ 

I I 

NETINCOM 
$4,713 

$3,831 

m '  
($3891 

($1.1351 

S1.52 

so.35 $0.42 

r n '  
(50.26) 

(S0.53) 

I I 

2000 2001 2002 2003 la1 Qtr 2003 1st ptr 2004 2000 ZOO1 ZOO2 2093 1 1  Qtr 1003 111 Qtr 200 

Selected Statistical Data: 
Return on average assets (1)(9) 
Return on average equity (2)(9) 
Net interest inargiri (3) 
Average interest rate sprcad (4) 
Efficiency ratio ( 5 )  
Operating expense to avcwgc assets (6)(9) 
Equity to total assets at cntl orperiod 
Average cquity to avcragc assets 
Dividend payout ratin (7) 

Asset Quality Ratios: 
Nun-perfuming assets to total assets (8) 
Nun-performing assets to total loans rcccivable (8) 
Allowance for loan losses to total loatis rcccivable 
Allowance for loan losses to non-performing assets (8) 
Nct loan charpuffs  (recoveries) to avcragc Iwns outstanding (9) 

Three Months Ending 
June 30, At or lor the Fiscal Year Ended Mnrcb 31, 

2003 2003 2002 zoo1 2000 
(Doll=n in thousands, except per shire data) 

0.84 % 
10.50 
3.46 
3.30 

69.28 
2.88 
8.09 
8.02 

11-17 

0.83 ?4 
9.71 
4.26 
4.08 

68.lh 
3.18 
8.06 
8.48 
3.19 

1.11 % 
13.78 
4.05 
3.92 

77.89 
3.33 
8.16 
8.03 
2.55 

(0.07) "/o 
(0.89) 
3.61 
3.48 

96.93 
3.72 
7.56 
7.85 

( I  7.24) 

(0.27) % 
(3.29) 
3.41 
3.38 

104.31 
3.82 
7.77 
8.33 

(5.17) 

0.35 Yu 0.36 % 0.63 Y" 0.7 I 'YO 0.73 Yo 
0.59 0.61 0.96 1.04 1.12 
1.35 1.40 1.41 1.24 1.07 

228.50 230.74 142.31 140.97 138.07 
0.05 (0.01) 0.10 0.42 0.84 

( I )  Nct income dividcd hy average total assets. 
(2) Nct inconie divided by average total cquity. 
(3) Net interest iiicoiiie divided by avcmgc interest-earning assets. 
(4) The diffcretice hctwccn thc weighted average yield on interest-c;iming assets and the weighted avcrvge cost of interest-bearing liabilities. 
(5) Nun-interest expense (other than real estate owned expenses) dividcd hy thc sum of net interest income and non-intcrcst 

income (other than tic1 security gains and losses and other non-rccrrmng income). 
( 6 )  Non-intcrcst cxpense less real estate owned cxpcnscs, dwded by average total asscts. 

(7) Dividends paid to conitnoti stockholders as B percentage of tiel incornc (hrss) available to coiniiioii stockholders. 
(8) Non performing assets conhist ( i f  nun-accnial loans, loans accruing YO Jays or more past due, arid property acquired in settlement of loatis. 
(9) Three month period cnding June 30, 2003 antiualired. 



FORWARD-1,OOKTNG STATEMENTS 

Statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K which are not historical facts are fonvard-looking 
statements as that lcrm is defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Acl of 1995, and inay be identified by the 
use of such words as "believe," ''expect," "anticipate," "inlend," "should," "could," "planned," "estimated," "potential" 
and similar terms and phrases. These forward-looking statements consist of estimates with rcspccl lo the financial 
condition, rcsulls of operations and business of the Company (as defined below) that are subject to various risks and 
uncertainties which could cause actual rcsults lo differ materially from these estimates due to a number of factors. 
Factors which could result in niatcrial variations include, but are not limited to, the Company's success in iniplcmcnling 
its initiatives, including cxpanding its product line, successfully rebrariding its image and achieving grcnlcr operating 
efficiencies; changes in interest rates which could affect net interest margins and net interest income; cornpelitivc factors 
which could affect nct interest income and non-interest income; the ability of lhc Company to originate and purchase 
loans with attractive terms and acceptable credit quality; the abilily of the Company to realize cost efficiencies; and 
general economic conditions which could affect the volume of loan origination, deposit flows, real cstntc values, the 
levels of non-interest incornc and lhc amount of loan losses. The Company assumes no obligation lo update these 
forward-looking statements to reflect actual results, changes in assumptions or changes in other factors affecting such 
forward-looking statements. 

' 

GENEKAL DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 

Carver Bancorp, Inc. 

Crtrvcr Bancorp, Inc., a Delaware corporation (on a stand-alone basis, the "Holding Company"), is the holding company for 
Carver Federal Savings Bank, a federally chartered savings bank, and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Bank" or "Carver Federal"). 
Collectively, the Holding Company, the Bank and the Holding Company's other direct and indirect subsidiaries are referred to herein 
as the "Company" or "Carvcr." On October 17, 1996, the Bank coinpleted its reorganization into a holding company structure (the 
"Reorganization") and became a wholly owncd subsidiary of the Holding Company. Pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of 
Kcorganization, dated May 21, 1996, each share ol' the Bank's outstanding common stock was exchanged for one share o f  common 
stock of the Ilolding Company. The Holding Company conducts business as a unitary savings and loan holding company, and the 
principal business of the llolding Coinpany consists of the operation of i ts wholly owncd subsidiary, thc Sank. 

The Holding Company's executive offices are located at the home office of the Bank at 75 West 125th Street, New York, 
New York 10027. 'I'hc Holding Company's telephone number is (212) 876-4747. 

Carver Federal Savings Bank 

The Bank was chastered in 1948 and began operations in 1949 as Carver Fcdcral Savings and Loan Association, a federally 
chartered riiutual savings and loan association, at which time the Bank obtained federal deposit insurance a i d  became a member of 
the Federal Home Loan Bank (the "FHJE') of New York. Thc Bank converted to a federal savings bank in 1986 and changed its 
name at that time to Carvcr Federal Savings Bank. On October 24, 1994, the Bank converted from mutual to stock forin and issued 
2,3 14,275 shares of its coininon stock at a price of $ I O  per share. 

Carver Federal was fouiided as an Alrican-American operated institution to provide residents ol' under-served communities 
with the ability to invest their savings and obtain credit. Carver Federal's principal business coiisists of attracting dcposit accounts 
through its five branch offices and investing thosc funds in mortgage loans and other investments permitted to fcderal savings banks. 
Based on asset size as of March 3 1 ,  2003, Carver Federal is the largest African-American operated financial institution in the United 
States. 

Company Website and Availability uf Securities and Exchange Comniission Filings 

Thc Company makes available on or through its internct wcbsite, www.ca rve rbanka ,  its annual report on Forni 10-K, quarterly 
reports on Form IO-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all iimcndnicnts to thosc reports tiled or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) 
or 1S(d) of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934. Such reports art' free of chargc and are available as soon as reasonably practicable 
after the Company electronically files such material with, or furnishes it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission. 
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Management Strategy 

l‘hc Company’s general operating strategy focuses on the origination of commercial, construction, inultifilmily and, to a 
lesser extent, secured consumer and business loans and the efficient itsc of personiiel arid technological resources. During 1 999, the 
Coiiipiiny reduced its previous emphasis on investing in one- to four-family loans in favor of investing in higher margin business 
lines, including comtnercial, construction iind multifiamily real estate loans. The Company’s cument operating strategy consists 
primarily of: ( 1 )  the origination of coiiiinercial construction and inultifiimily real estate in the Rank’s primary market area; ( 2 )  
iiivesting funds not utilized for loan originations or pirrcliases in the purchase of United Slates Government Agency securities, 
mortgage-backed securities and, to a lesser extent, repurchasing the Company’s coinmoil stock; (3) expanding its branch nctwork by 
opening de novo branchcs anti stand-alone ATM centers; (4) generating fee income by attracting and retaining high transaction core 
deposit accounts; arid ( 5 )  to continue to lower its expense ratio by efficiently utilizing personnel, branch facilities and alterative 
delivery channels (telephonc banking, internet, and AI’Ms) 10 service its customers. The Company plans to generate additional fee 
income by utilizing third party providers to sell non-deposit investment products and to offer a Carver credit card. 

Sarhanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

On July 30, 2002, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“Sarbanes-Oxley Act”) was signed into law. The Serbanes-Oxley Act 
iniposes new significant responsibilities on publicly held companies, particularly in the area of corporate governance. We have 
carefully reviewed the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and arc monitoring rind responding to the various implementing regulations that have 
been issued, and continue to be issued, by thc Securities Exchange Coinmission and the Aiiierican Stock Exchange. We have 
instituted procedures to address some of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act’s specific concerns and will continue to adapt the Coinpany’s 
governance stritcture to the inandates of the Sarbanes-Oxlcy Act as interpreted by the regulatory authorities in upcoming periods. 

Asset Quality 

Genwd. One of the Bank’s key operating objcctivcs has bcen and continues to be to iiiaintain a high level of asset quality. 
‘Through a variety of strategies, including, but not limited to, monitoring loan delinquencies, borrower workout arrangements and 
inarketiiig of foreclosed properties, the Bank hits been proactive in addressing problem and non-performing assets which, in tuiii, has 
helped to build the strength of the Bank’s financiul conditicm. Such strategies, as well as the Bank’s concentration on one to four- 
fiimily and initltifaiiiily mortgage lending, the maintenance of sound credit stiindards for new L ~ N J  originations and a strong real estate 
market, have resulted in  the Bank maintaining ii low level of non-performing assets. 

The iindcrlying credit quality o f  the Rank’s loan portfolio is dependent primarily on each borrower’s ability to continue to 
make required loan payments aiid, in the event a borrower is unable to continue to do so, the value o f  the collateral should be 
adequate to secure the loan. A borrower’s ability to pay typically is dependent primarily on cniployinent and other sources of income 
which, 111 turn, is irnpacted by general economic conditions, although other [mors, s w h  as unanticipated expenditures or changes in 
the finrincial markets, may also iriipact the borrower’s ability to pay. Collateral values, particularly real estate values, are also 
impacted by a variety of factors, including general economic conditions, dcmographics, maintenance and collection or foreclosure 
delays. 

Non-perjiwmirig As.scls. When a borrower fails to make a payment on it moltgage loan, immediate steps are taken by Carver 
Federal’s sub-scrviccrs to have the delinquency cured and the loan restored to current status. With respect to inoi-tgagc loans, once 
the payment grace period has expired (iii most inslaiices 15 days after the due date), a late notice is mailed to the borrower within two 
business days and a late charge is imposed ifapplicablc. If payment is not promptly roccived, the borrower is contacted by telephone 
aiid erforts are made to formulate an affirmative plan to ciirc the delinquency. hdditioniil calls are made by the 20th and 25th day of 
the delinquency. If a inortgagc loan becomes 30 days delinquenl, a letter is inailed to the borrower requesting payment by ii specified 
date. If a mortgage loan bccoincs 60 days delinquent, Carver Federal seeks to make personal contact with the borrower and also has 
the property inspcctcd. If ii mortgage bcconics 90 days delinquent, a letter is seiit to the borrower demanding payment by a ccrtain 
date and indicating that a forcclosure suit will be filed if the deadliiie is not met. If payment is still not inadc, management may 
pursue foreclosure or other appropriate action. 

When a borrower fails to make ii payment on ii consiiiiier loan, steps arc taken by Carver Federal’s loan departnient to have 
the delinquency cured and the loan restored to cirrrent status. With the exception of automobile loans, once the payment grace period 
hiis expired (10 days after the due (late), a late notice i s  niailed to the borrower immediately and a late charge is imposed if applicable. 
If payment is not promptly received, the borrowt.1- is contacted by telephone, aiid efforts are niade to formulate an affirmative plan to 
cure the deliiiquency. If a coiisuiner loan becoTiieS 30 days delinquent, a letter is mailed to the borrowcr requesting payment by a 
specitied date. If the loan becomes hO days delinquent, the account is given to an independent collcctioii agency to follow up with the 
collectioii of the account. If the loan becomes 90 days delinquent, a final warning letter is sent to the borrower and any co-borrower. 
If the loan remains delinquent, it is reviewed for charge-off. The Bank’s collection efforts gencriilly continue after thc loan is charged 
0 ff. 
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The following table sets forth information with respect to Carver Federal's non-performing assets at the dates rndlcatcd. 
Loans gciicrally are placed on ncni-accmal status when they become 90 days delinquent. 

At March 3 1 ,  
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 

(Dollars in thuusands) 
Loans accounted for on a tion-accnial basis (1): 

Real estate: 
One- to four-family 
M ult ifiiiiily 
Non-rcsidcnt ial 
Construct ion 

Consumer and business 
Total non-accrual loans 

$ 1,113 $ 750 $ 947 $ 966 $ 392 
253 978 870 1,os I 

23 23 23 122 560 
27 31 (1 I6X 414 

1,802 2,823 2,519 2, I26 2,4 I7 

639 1,754 565 

Accruing loans contractually past due 90 days 01' more: 
Real est :it e: 

- - 0 nc- to  four- family 
M lilt it'amily - 

Construct ion 
I:'onsurner and business - - 

'Total accniing Wday past due loans - - 

-. 

- - 

- - - 

Tolal of non-acci-ual and accruing 00-day past due loans 1,802 2,823 2,s I !I 2, I26 

(-1lher riori-I)ci-fomiitig asscts (2): 
Real estate: 
One- to four-fatiiily - - 127 
M ultifaiiiily - 27 27 
N on-resident ial - 449 708 

%ix 
804 
530 
183 

2.085 

4,502 

185 
- 

.- 

Consunicr and busincss 
Tot a1 ot hcr non-p erforining assel s 

Total n on -p er fomiing ass et s ( 3) 

Non-perfomiing loans 10 loial loaris 
Non-performing asscts lo  l o l a l  asscts 

- - I 0 99 
- 476 93 x 284 

$ 1,802 $ 2,823 $ 2,005 %: 3,064 $ 4,786 

0.0 I %I 0.96'% 0.88%1 0.79%) I .OO% 

0.35% ().6J?'u 0.71%1 0.73%1 1.15% 

( I ) Noli-accrual status denotes any loat1 where the delinc+Icncy cxceecls 90 (lays past due ;mtl iii lhc opinion of managclncnt the collection of additional 
interest i s  douhtliil. Aftei- a caruliil rcvicw of indivitlual loan histoiy ;ind related collateral by managctncnt, the loan i i~ay be designated IS an acctiiing 
lonn that is conlr~~cludly past due 90 days ijr morc or if iii Ihe opinion of m;tn;igeir~cnl the collection 01 additional interest i s  douhtft11 the loan wil l  
remain in non-accmal status. Payrncnts received on ii rion-acct-unl loan are either applied to !lie oulstanding pri~icipd halancc or recorded as ititcrest 
income, depending on assessiiieiit ol.thc ability to collect (in the loan. Llui-ing thc year cndcd March 3 I ,  2003, gross interest incoriic of $ 1  73,000 would 
liavc bccii recortled on loans accounted li)r on a non-accrual 17. at the end of the liscal year if the loans had hccn current thrtrugl~out the year. Inuteatl, 
Iharc was no iiitei-esl on xuch loans included in iilcotnc during the period. 

(2) Othcr non-pel-lbnning assets represent propcr.ty acquii-et1 hy [tic Bank in settleiiicrlt of loans (i.e.. tlirough fnreclosui-e 01- repossession 01- iis ail in- 
substiliice li)rcclosurc). I'liese asscts arc rccolded at thc lower of theii- fail- valuc or the unpaid principal balance plus unpaid acctiied intri-est 01. Ihc 
related loans. 

(3) Total non-perlimning asscts consisl ol-non-accmal loans, accruing loans 90 days 01- inorc past due and property acquired in scttlcmcnt of loillis 

At March 31, 2003, total non-pcrl'onning asscts decreased by $ 1  .O million, or 30.2%, to $ 1  .X million, coriiparcd to $2.8 
million at March 3 1, 2002. All non-perfomling assets at March 3 I, 2003 and 2002 relate to loans accounted for 011 a nnn-accrual 
basis. The decrease priinarily reflects a decrease in non-accruing non-rcsidaltial arid multifamily real estate lvans partially offset by 
an incrcase in non-accming one- to four-family real estate loans. 

There wcrc no accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or inore at  March 3 1, 2003 arid March 3 I ,  2002, retlecting the 
cmtiiiued practice adopted by the Hank during the fiscal year ended March 3 1 ,  2000 to either write off or place on non-accrual slatus 
all loans contractually past due 90 days or mol-c. 
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Asset C~lr~s,s!/kutiun and Al1owanre.c ,/& Losscs. Federal regulations and the Bank’s policies require the classification of 
assets on the basis of quality on a regular basis. An asset is classificd as “substandard’ if i t  is detemiiiicd to be inadequately prolcctcd 
by the current net worth and paying capacity of the obligor or the current value of the collateral pledged, if any. An asset is classified 
as “doubtful” if full collection is highly questionable or improbable. An asset is classified as “loss” if it is considcred un-collectible, 
even if a partial recovery could be cxpccted in the future. The rcgulations also provide for a “spccial mention” designation, described 
as assets that do not currently expose a savings instihition to a sufficicnt degree o f  risk lo witrrant classification but do possess credit 
deficiencies or potential weaknesses dcscrving management’s closc attention. Assets classified as substandard or doubtful require a 
savings institution to establish gencral allowances for loan losses. If an asset or portion thcrcof is classified loss, a savings institution 
must either establish specific allowances for loan losses in the amount of the portion of the asset classified loss or charge off such 
amount. Federal examiners may disagree with it savings institution’s classifications. If a savings institution does riot agrce with an 
examiner’s classification of ui asset, it may appeal this dctermination to the OTS Regional Director. 

At March 3 1,  2003, Carver Fcdcral had $2. I inillion of loans classified as substandard which representcd 0.4% of the Bank’s 
total assets and S.30/0 ofthe Bank’s tangible regulatory capital at March 3 I ,  2003. There wcrc no loans classified as doubtful or loss 
at March 3 I .  2003. 

The OTS, in conjunction with the other federal banking agencies, has adopted an interagency policy statement on the 
allowance for loiiii losses and leasc losses. The policy statement provides guidance for financial iiistitutioiis on both the 
responsibilities of management for the assessment and establishmcnt of adequate allowanccs and guidance for banking agency 
examiners to use iii detcnnining the adequacy of general valuation guidclines. Generally, the policy statement recommends that 
institutions have effective systems and controls to idcntify, monitor and addrcss asset quality problems, that nianageineiil has 
analyzed all significant factors that affcct the ability 10 collcct the portfolio in a reasonable manner and that management has 
cstablished acceptablc allowance evaluation processes that inect the objectives set forth in the policy statement. Although 
managcmcnt believes that adequate specific and gcncral loan loss allowances have been established, actual losses are dependent upon 
future events and, as such, further additions to the level of specific and general loan loss allowances inay bccome necessary. Federal 
examiners may disagrcc with the savings institution as to the appropriate level of the institution’s allowance for loan losses. While 
managcment believes Carver Federal has established its existing loss allowances in accorciaiice with generally accepted accounting 
principles, there can be no assurance that regulators, in  reviewing Carver’s assets, will not rcquirc Carver Federal to incrcase its loss 
allowance, thereby negalively affecting Carver’s reported financial condition and results o f  operations. 

Carver Federal’s melhodology for establishing the allowance Tor loui losses takes inlo consideration probable losscs that 
have been identificd in connection with specific loans as well as losses that have not bccn identified but can be expected to occur. 
Furthcr, managernetit reviews the ratio of allowances to total loans (including projected growth) and recornrnends adjustments to the 
level of allowances accordingly. The Internal Asset Quality Review Committee conducts quarkrly rcviews of the Rank’s loans and 
evaluates the need to establish gcncral and speciflc allowances on the basis of this review. In addition, managernetit activcly monitors 
Carver Federal’s asset quality and charges off loans and propcrties acquired in scttlcinent of loans against thc allowances Tor losscs on 
loans and such properties wlicn appropriate and provides specific loss rcserves when necessary. Although managcment believes it 
uses the best information available to makc determinations with respect to thc allowances for losses, futurc adjustments may be 
necessary if cconomic conditions differ substantially from the economic conditions in the assumptions used in inaking the initial 
detcrminations. 

Carver Federal’s Tntcnial Asset Quality Kcvicw Committee reviews its assets on a quarterly basis to detenninc whether any 
assets require classification or re-classification. The Rank has a ccntralized loan servicing structure that relies upon outside serviccrs, 
each of which gencratcs ii monthly report of delinquent loans. The Board has designated the Internal Asset Quality Review 
Coinmittcc to pe r fhn  quarterly reviews of the Bank’s asset quality, aiid their report is submitted to the Board Tor rcvicw. The Asset 
Tiability and Interest Rate Risk Committee estiiblishcs policy relating to internal classi Cicatioii of loans and also providcs input to the 
Intenial Asset Quality Review C:ominittce in  its review of classified assets. In originating loans, Carvcr Fcdcral recognizes that crcdit 
losses will occur aiid that the risk of loss will vary with, among other things, the typc of loan being made, the creditworthiness of the 
borrower over thc term o f  the loan, gcncral economic conditions and, in the case of a secured loan, the quality o f  the security for the 
loan. Tt is management’s policy to maintain a generid allowance for loan losses based on, among other things, regular reviews of 
delinquencies and loan portfolio quality, character and s i x ,  thc Bank’s and the industry’s historical and projcctcd loss experieiicc and 
current and forecasted economic conditions. In addition, considcrablc uncertainty exists as to the future iinprovcincnt or deterioration 
of the real cstatc markets in various states, or o f  their ultimate iinpact on Carver Federal as a result of its purchased loans in  such 
states. See “I.ending hctivities-I,oan Purchases.” Cwvcr Fcdcrd increases i t s  allowance for loan losses by charging provisions for 
possible losses against the Bank’s income. General allowances arc cstablished by the Board on at least a quarterly basis based on an 
assessment of risk in the Bank’s loans, taking into consideration the composition and quality of the portfolio, delinquency trends, 
current chargo-off and loss expcricncc, the state of the real estate market and economic conditions generally. Specific allowimccs are 
provided for individuitl loans, or portions of loans, when ultimate collection is considcred improbable by management based on thc 
currcnt payment status of the loan aiid the fair value or net realizablc value of the security for the loan. 

At the date of foreclosure or other repossession or at thc date the Rank determines a property is an impaired property, thc 
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Rank transfers the property to real estate acquired in settlement of loans at the lower o f  cost or fair value, less estimated sclling costs. 
Fair value is dcfincd as the amount i n  cash or cash-equivalent value of other constderation that a real estate parccl would yield in a 
current salc between a willing buyer and a willing seller. Any amount of cost in excess of fair value is chargcd-off against the 
allowance for loan losscs. Carver Federal records an allowance for estimatcd sclling costs of the property immediately after 
foreclosure. Subscqucnt to acquisition, the propcrty is periodically evaluatcd by management and an allowance is established if the 
estimated fair value of the property, less cstiinated costs to sell, dcclines. If, upon ultimate disposition of the propcrty, net sales 
proceeds cxcced the net carrying valuc of the property, a gain on sale of real estate is recorded. At March 3 I ,  2003, the Bank had no 
real estate acquired in settlement of loans. See Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

The following table sets forth an analysis of Carver Federal's allowance for loan losses for the periods indicated. 

Year Ended March 3 1 .  

Halance at bcginning of period 
L.oans chargcd ofF 
Kcal estate: 
One- to four-family 
Non-res iden tial 

Cansumer and busincss 
Total charge-offs 

Recoveries: 
Construction 
One- to four-family 
Multifamily 
Non-res id en t ial 
Consumer and busincss 
Total rccoveries 

Provision for losses 
Net loans charged off (recovered) 

Balance at end of period 

Ratio of net chargc-ofYs to average loans 
outstanding 
Ratio of allowance to total loans 
Ratio of allowance to non-performing assets (1) 

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 
(Dollars in thousands) 

$ 4,128 $ 3,551 $ 2,935 $ 4,020 $ 3,138 

2 - 252 138 
- 1 94 171 - 

226 500 93 1 2,260 3,229 
228 500 1,377 2,569 3,229 

( 1  ) Non-pcrforming assets consist o f  non-accrua 
or loans. 

258 174 200 292 37 
2% 177 200 385 82 .. ~ 

(30) 323 1,177 2,184 3,147 
- 900 1,793 1,099 4,029 

$ 4,158 $ 4,128 $ 3,551 $ 2,935 $ 4,020 - 

-0.01% 0.1 I% 
1.40% 1.41% 

230.74% 146.23% 1 

0.42% 0.84% 1.17% 
I .24% 1.07% 1.48% 
8.56% 95.79% 85.60% 

m s ,  accruing loans YO days or more past due and property acquircd in settlement 



The following table allocates the allowance for loan losses by itsset catcgory at thc datcs indicated. 'I'hc allocation of the 
allowance to each category i s  riot necessarily indicativc of future losscs and does not restrict the LISC of the allowance to absorb losses 
in any category. 

At March 31, 
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 

u/u of o/u or % o f  o/o of %l o f  
Loans in Loans in I.oans in Loans in Loans in 

Each Each Each Each Each 
Category Cetcgory Category Category Category 
to Total to Total tu Total to Total to Total 

Amount Amount Loans Amount Loans Amount Loans Amount Loans . . . . . .. 
. - 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Loans: 
Rcal cstatc 

One- to four-family $ 29x 24.18 % .R 429 41.28 % $ 1,198 54.71 % $ 1,050 55.54 %, $ 957 65.39 
Multi-family 656 44.24 I ,4hX 39.86 748 29.00 764 3 1.40 902 I x.x9 
Non-residential 1,867 26.38 729 13.4X 353 12.52 202 8.28 25 1 
('onslructicm 170 4.46 76 4 60 290 2 46 272 2.33 424 3.98 

Consumer and busincss 344 0 74 377 0.78 962 1.31 647 2 45 I .486 3.41 
Uiiallocatcd 723 - 1,049 

Total allowance for loan losse5 $ 4,158 100.00 'Yo $ 4,128 100.00 %J $ 3,ss I 100.00 % $ 2,935 100.00 % $ 4,020 
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE HOLDING COMPANY 

The name, position, term of office as ofticer and period during which he or she has served as an orficer i s  providcd below 
for each executive officer of the Holding Company its of May 31,2003. Each of the persons listed below is an executive officer of the 
Holding Company and the Bank, holding the same office in cach. 

NAME 

Deborah C. Wright 

Catherine A. Papayiannis 

James H. Bason 

Frank Dcaton 

Thda .I. Dunn 

William Gray 

Brian J. Mahcr 

Margaret Peterson 

Devon W. Woolcock 

ACE 

45 

43 

48 

34 

47 

48 

61 

52 

37 

POSITION 

President and Chief Executive Ofticer, Director 

Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer 

Senior Vicc President and Chief Lending Ofticer 

Senior Vice President and Chief Auditor 

Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary 

Senior Vice President and Chief t-kancial Ot'tker 

Senior Vice President and Chief Credit Officer 

Senior Vice President and Chief Adininistrativc Officer 

Senior Vice President and Chief of Retail Banking 

Deborah C. Wright is President and Chief Executive Officer and a Director- ofthe Holding Company and Carvcr Federal. 
Prior to joining Carvcr on June I ,  1999, Ms. Wright was President & CEO of the Upper Manhallan Empowerment Zone Developmcnt 
Corporation, a position she hcld since May 1996. She previously served as Coinmissioner of the Dcpartinent of Housing Preservation 
and Development under Mayor Rudolph W. Giuliani hiom January 1994 through March 1996. Prior to that appointment, Ms. Wright 
was ii meinher ofthe New York City Housing Authority Boar-d. She is a member or the Roard of Ovcrsccrs of Harvard Univcrsily and 
serves on the boards of Kraft Ihxls,  Iiic., Tlie Lower Manhiittan Development Corporation, the Initiative Tor a Competitive Inner 
City, Tlie New York City Partnership, Inc. and the Ministers and Missionaries Reiietit Board of the Aiiierican Baptist Churches. Ms. 
Wright carned A,R., J.D. and M.B.A. degrees from Harvard University. 

Catlicrine A. Papayiannis is Executivc Vice President and Chief Operating Officer. She joined Carver in  June 2002. Ms, 
Papayiannis was previously Senior Vice PresidentiDircctor or Community Banking at Atlantic Bank of New York, whcrc she 
oversaw the rcgional retail distribution network, the offsite ATM network, wealth and cash managcmcnt scrvices, residential iind 
consumer lending and siniill business banking. Prior to joining Atlantic Bank Ms. Papayiannis was employed by Olympian Bank or 
Brooklyn where she hcld numerous roles. Ms. Papayiannis earned a B.B.A. and iiii M.R.A from Baruch College. 

James 11. Bason is Senior Vice President arid Chief Lending Oflicer. He joined Carver in March 2003. Previously Mr. 
Basoii was Vice President and Real Estate Loan Officer at The Bank of New York where he had been employed since 1YY 1 when The 
Bank of New York acquired Uarclays Rank (whcrc he had been eriiployed since 19x6). At The Bank o f  New York he was 
responsible for developing and maintaining relationships with developers, buildcrs, real estate investors and brokers to providc 
construction and pcnnanent real estate financing. At  Rarclays, Mr Bason began his carccr in residential lending rind everitually 
became thc banks CRA oftkcr. Mr. Rasoii earned a 13,s. in Business Adrninistriition Tram the Statc University of New York at  
Oswego. 

Frank Dcaton is Senior Vice President and Chief Auditor. He joined Carver in May 2001. Mr. Ileaton was previously 
Vice President and Risk Review Manager with Key Rank in Clcvcland, Ohio. He joined Kcy Bank in 1990 and was responsible for 
developing the scopc and overseeing completion of credit, operational and regulatory compliance audits for a variety of business 
units. Mr. Deatoti i s  a Certificd Bank Auditor and a member orthe Institute of lntcniiil Auditors. 

Linda J. Dunn i s  Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary. She joined Carvcr in June 2001. Ms. 
Dunii had been a corporate associate at the law finn Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharlon Rr Garrison since 1994. She was an Assistant 
Vicc President in  the Consumer Products Division of Chemical Rank from 1987 to 1991. From 19x3 to 1987, she was employcd at 
Aniericaii/National Can Company where she held various positions from Fiiiaiicial Analyst to Manager of Performance Analysis in 
the Specialty Food Products Division. Ms. Dunn calmed A.R., M.B.A. and J.1). degrees from Harvard University. 

William Gray is Senior Vice President nnd Chief Firiaticial Oftkcr. IIe joined C'arver in February 2002. Mr. Gray hiid 
been employed at the Dime Savings Hank o f  New York sincc 1992, most recently scrving as Vice President/Dircctor or Riisiriess IJnit 
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Planning and Support in the Controller's Department where he was responsible for identifying arid evaluating strategic initiatives for 
several businesses. Mr. Gray earned a B.A. in accounting from Adelphi University in 1986. 

I 14 

Brian J. Maher is Senior Vice President and Chief Credit Officer. Mr. Maher joined Carver in September 2002 and was 
appointed to the newly created Chief Credit Officer position in January 2003. Mr. Maher brings to Carver 30 years of experience in 
financial services, 20 years in credit and lending, 15 ycars of which were with Citibank and seven years with Alliance Funding. Mr. 
Maher earned a B.A. from St. Bonavcnturc University. 

Margaret D. Peterson is Senior Vice President and Chief Human Resources Oftker. She joined Carver in October 1999. 
Ms. Peterson came to Carver from Deutsche Rank where she served as a Compensation Planning Consultant in Corporate Human 
Resources. Prior to joining Deutschc Bank, she was a Vicc Prcsidcnt and Scnior IIuinan Resources Gencralist for Citibank Global 
Asset Management. In addition to her 13 years in Human Resources, Ms. Peterson has ten years of Systems and Technology 
experience from various positions held at each of JP Morgan and Chase Manhattan Bank. Ms. Peterson is a member of thc Board of 
Friends of Columbia University's Double Discovery Center. Ms. Peterson earned a Bachelors Degree from Pace University, an 
M.B.A. from Columbia Univcrsity as a Citicorp Fellow, and has been designated a Certified Compensation Professional (CCP) by the 
American Compensation Association and a Senior Professional in Human Resources (SPHR) by the HR Certitication Institute. 

Devon W. Wuolcock is Senior Vice President and Chief of Retail Banking. He is a 12-year veteran of retail banking. He 
joined Carver in 2000 from Citibank where he was a Division Executive Vice President and where, most recently, he managed six 
branches in Brooklyn and Queens. He joined Citibank in 1995 where he managed several South Florida branches before moving to 
New Yotk City. Mr. Woolcock began his career with Barnctt Bank in Florida, holding positions including llcad Teller, Division 
Opcrations Manager and Branch Manager. Mr. Woolcock attended college at the University of Houston and Bethune Cookman 
College. 



Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters. I 
The Holding Company’s common stock is listcd on the American Stock Exchange under the symbol “CNY.” As of May 31, 

2003, there were 2,286,133 shares of the common stock outstanding, held by approximately 1,073 stockholders of record. The 
following table shows the high and low per share sales prices of thc common stock and the dividends declared for the quarters 
indicated. 

High Low Dividend High Luw Dividend 
Fiscal Year 2002 Fiscal Year 2003 

June 30, 2002 $13.10 $11.31 $ - June30,2001 $ 9 1 8  $8.60 $ 

September30,2002 $12.15 $ 9.83 $ Septmber30,2001 $10.13 $8.15 $ - 

Dcccmber31,2002 $11.27 $ 9.08 $ 0.05 December31,2001 $ 9.80 $Kh4 $ - 

March 31,2003 $14.54 $11.13 $ 0.05 Mxch31, 2002 $11.49 $9.60 $ 0.05 

On January 9,2003, the Holding Company’s Board of Directors announced the establishment of a quarterly cash dividend in 
an amount to bc determined each quarter. As such, thc Board of Directors declared two scparate cash dividends of $0.05 per common 
share for the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2003. They were paid on or about February 7, 2003 and May 19, 2003, respectively, to 
common stockholders of record at the close o f  business on January 20, 2003 and May 5, 2003, respcctivcly. In each o f  the past five 
tiscal years other than fiscal 2003 the Company has paid an annual $0.05 per cotnmon share cash dividend. 

The Rank will not be permitted to pay dividends to the Holding Company on its capital stock if its regulatory capital would 
be reduced below applicable rcgulatory capital requirements or if its stockholders’ equity would be reduced below the amount 
required to bc maintained for the liquidation account, which was established in connection with thc Bank’s conversion to stock form. 
The OTS capital distribution regulations applicable to savings institutions (such as the Bank) that meet their regulatory capital 
requirements permit, after not less than 30 days prior notice to the OTS, capital distributions during a calendar year that do not exceed 
the Bank’s net income for that year plus its retained net income for the prior two years. For information concerning the Bank’s 
liquidation account, see Note 1 1 of the Notes to thc Consolidated Financial Statements. 

IJnlike the Bank, the Holding Company is not subject to OTS rcgulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends lo its 
stockholders, although thc source of such dividends will be dependent, in part, upon dividends from the Bank. The Holding Company 
is subject to the requirements of Delaware law, which generally limit dividends to an amount equal to the excess o f  the net assets of 
the Company (the amount by which total assets exceed topal liabilities) over its statutory capital, or if there is no such excess, to its net 
profits for the current and/or immediately preceding fiscal year. 
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA. 

I I6 

At or for the Fiscal Year Ended March 
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 

(Dollars in thousands, except per share 
Selected Financial Condition 
Assets 
Loans, net 
Sccurities 
Cash and cash 
Deposits 
Borrowcd funds 
Stockholders' 
Number of Deposit 
Number of 

Operating Data: 
Interest 
intercst expcnsc 
Net intcrcst 
Provision for loan 

hon-interest 
ion-interest 
Income (loss) before income 
Income tax 
Net income 
Diluted earnings (loss) per common 

Selected Statistical Data: 
Return on average assets 
Return on average equity 
Net interest margin 
Average interest rate spread 
Efficiency ratio (3) 
Operating expense to average assets (3) 
Equity to total assets at end of 
Average equity to average 
Dividend payout ratio 
Book value 

Asset Quality 
Non-performing assets to total assets 
NOn-perfonning assets to total loans receivable 
Xilowancc for loan losses to total loans 

Net intcrcst incomc aftcr provision for loan 

$ 509,845 
292,738 
164,750 
23,160 

347,164 
108,996 
41,073 
4 1,220 

5 

$ 450,306 
2X9,7 I O  
105,464 
34,851 

324,954 
7565 1 
36,742 
4 1,200 

5 

$424,500 
283,437 
87,788 
31,758 

279,424 
105,600 
32,006 
44,75 1 

5 

$ 420,119 
270,148 
104,177 
22,202 

281,941 
98,578 
32,641 
54,597 

7 

$ 416,483 
270,522 
96,502 
21,321 

276,999 
102,038 
31,175 
58,113 

7 

27,378 28,254 28,307 27,367 28,473 
8,983 12,047 14,278 14,009 14,815 

18,395 16,207 14,029 13,358 13,658 
900 1.793 1.099 4.029 

18,395 
3,161 

14,692 
6,864 
3.033 

15,307 
4,485 

14,198 
5,594 

88 I 
$ 3,831 
$ 1.52 

$ 4,713 
$ 1.89 

12,236 
2,934 

15,461 
(29 1) 

98 
$ (389) 
$ (0.26) 

12,259 9,629 
2,539 2,382 

15,823 17,963 
( I  ,025) (5,952) 

110 ( 1,499) 
$ (1,135) $ (4,453) 
$ (0.53) $ (2.02) 

0.83 %> 1.11 %, (0.07)0/, 
9 77 13.78 (0.XY) 
4.26 4.05 3.61 
4.08 3.92 3.48 

68.16 77.89 96.93 
3.IX 3.33 3.72 
8.06 8.16 7.56 
8.4X X.03 7.85 
3.19 2.55 (17.24) 

$ 16.26 $ 14.72 $ 13.03 

(0.27)% 
(3.29) 
3.47 
3.38 

104.31 
3.82 
7.77 
8.33 

(5.17) 
$ 14.28 $ 

0.36 % 0*h3 % 
0.61 0.96 
I .40 1.41 

0.71 % 0.73 O/u 
1.04 1.12 
1.24 I .07 

(1 .OS)'% 
(12.70) 

3.43 
3.29 

112.02 
4.22 
7.49 
8.24 

(2.60) 
14.13 

1.15 % 
1.66 
1.48 

(1) Net income dividcd by avcragc total 
(2) Net income divided by average total 
(3) For fiscal 1999, excluding non-recurring cxpcnscs amounting to $ 7 3  million, 1-3 return on average assets, return on 

(4) Nct'int'crest income divided by average interest-earning 
(5) The difference between the weighted average yield on interest-earning assets and the weighted average cost of interest-bearing 
(6) Non-interest expense (other than real estate owned expenses) divided by the sum of net interest income and non- 

(7) Non-interest expense less real estate owned expenses, dividcd by average total 
(8) Dividends paid to common stockholders as a percentage of net income (loss) available to common 
(9) Nnn performing assets consist of non-accrual loans, loans accruing 90 days or more past due, and property acquired in settlement 
(TO) Total stockholdcrs' cquity dividcd by dilutcd wcightcd average shares 

equity, operating expenses to average assets and cfficicncy ratio wcrc 0.24%, 2.85%, 2.080/0, and 78.94%, 

income (other than net security gains and losses and other non-recurring 



MANAGEMENT’S DlSCUSSlON AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS. 

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statcmcnts presented elsewhere in this report. 

I General 

Carver’s net income is dependent primarily on its net interest income, which is the difference between interest income 
earned on its loan, investment and mortgage-backed securities portfolios and the interest paid on its interest-bearing liabilities, such as 
deposits and borrowings. In addition, net income is affected by the level of provision for loan losses, as well as non-interest income 
and operating expenses. 

The operations of Carver are significantly affcctcd by prevailing economic conditions, competition and the monetary and 
fiscal policies of governmental agencies. Lending activities are intluenced by the demand for and supply o f  housing, competition 
among lenders, thc lcvel of interest rates and the availability of funds. Deposit flow and costs of funds are influenced by prevailing 
market rates of interest, primarily on competing investments, account maturities, and the levels of personal incomc and savings. 

Asset/Liability Management 

Net interest income, the primary component of Carver’s net income, is determined by the difference or “spread” between the 
yield earned on interest-earning assets and the rates paid on its intcrcst-bearing liabilities and the relative amounts of such asscts and 
liabilities. Because Carver’s intercst-bcaring liabilities consist primarily of shorter term deposit accounts, Carver’s interest rate 
spread can be adverscly affcctcd by changes in general interest rates if its interest-earning assets arc not sufficiently sensitive to 
changes in interest rates. Management has sought to reduce Carver’s cxposure to changes in interest rates by more closely matching 
the effective mahirities and repricing periods of its interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities through a variety of 
strategies, including tho origination and purchase of adjustable-rate loans for its portfolio, invcstmcnt in adjustable-rate mortgage- 
backed securities and shorter-term investment securities and the sale of all long-term fixed-rate loans originated into the secondary 
market. The Bank has also reduced interest rate risk through its origination and purchase or primarily adjustable-rate mortgage loans 
and cxtension of the term of borrowings. 

Discussion of Market Risk-Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis 

As a financial institution, the Bank’s primary component of market risk is interest rate volatility. Fluctuations in intcrcst 
rates will ultimately impact both thc lcvcl of income and expense recorded on a large portion of the Bank’s assets and liabilities, and 
the niarket value of all interest-earning assets, other than those which possess a short term to maturity. Since all o f  Carver’s interest- 
bearing liabilities and virtually all of Carver’s interest-earning assets arc located at the Bank, most of Carver’s interest rate risk 
(“IRR”) exposure lies at the Bank level. As a result, all significant IRR management procedures are performed at the Bank level. 
Based upon the Bank’s nature of operations, the Bank is not subject to foreign currency exchange or commodity pricc risk. The Bank 
does not own any trading assets. 

Carver seeks to manage its IRR by monitoring and controlling the variation in repricing intervals between its assets and 
liabilities. To a lesser extent, Carvcr also monitors its interest rate sensitivity by analyzing the estimated changes in markct value of 
its assets and liabilities assuming various interest rate scenarios. As discussed more fully below, thcrc arc a variety of factors which 
influence the repricing characteristics of any given asset or liability. 

The matching of assets and liabilities may bc analyzed by examining the extent to which such assets and liab 
“interest rate sensitivc” and by monitoring an institution’s interest rate sensitivity gap. An asset or liability is said to be intercst ratc 
scnsitive within a specific period if it will mature or reprice within that period. Thc intcrest rate sensitivity gap is defined as the 

amount of intcrcst-earning assets maturing or repricing within a specific period of time and the amount of 
es repricing within that same time period. A gap is considered positive when the amount of interest rate 

sensitive assets excccds the amount of interest rate sensitive liabilities and is considered negative when the amount of intcrest ratc 
es cxcccds the amount of interest rate sensitive assets. Generally, during a period of falling intcrcst ratcs, a negative 

gap could result in an increase in net interest income, while a positive gap could adversely affect nct interest income. Conversely, 
during a period of rising interest rates a negative gap could adversely affect net interest income, while a positive gap could result in an 
increase in net interest incomc. As illustrated below, Carver had a negative one-year gap equal to 6.26% of total rate sensitive assets 
at March 31, 2003, as a result of which its net interest income could be negatively affectcd by rising interest rates and positively 
affected by falling interest rates. 
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The following table sets forth information rcgarriing the projected maturitics, prepayments and repricing of the major rate- 
isitive assct and liability categories of Carver as of March 31, 2003. Maturity repricing dates have been projccted by applying 
:payment ratcs which management believes arc appropriate. The information presented in the following table is derived in part 
rm data incorporated in “Schedule CMR: Consolidated Maturity and Kate,” which is part of thc Bank’s quarterly reports filed with 
; OTS. The rcpricing and other assumptions are not neccssarily representative of the Bank‘s actual results. Classifications of items 
the table below are different from thosc prcscnted in other tables and thc financial statements and accompanying notes included 
rein and do not reflect non-perfonning loans. 

Over One 

Three or Four to Through Over Three Ovcr Five Over 

Less Twelve Three Through Through Ten 

Months Months Ycsrs Five Years Ten Years Years Total 
(Dollars in thousnnds) 

$28,823 $82,424 $77,738 $61,665 $46,680 $119,504 $422,XI 
5,500 - - - 5,5(. 

14,Ol I X,105 16,655 - 5,x 12 44,5E 

$48,334 $90,529 $94,393 $67,665 $46,6XO $125,3 16 $472,9 I 

$1,287 $884 $1,950 $1,607 $7,159 $5,303 %18,15 

3,738 7,964 14,71 1 14,735 30,344 57,443 128,93 

1,565 7,092 2,501 1,775 3,197 4,605 20,73 

27,667 IOO,00 I 22,879 12,218 - - I62,76 

11,750 6,500 59,047 28,134 3,565 - I OR799 

$46,007 $ I22,44 1 $101,088 $58,469 $44,265 $67,35 I %439,62 

$2,327 ($31,912) ($6,695) $9,196 $2,4 15 $57,965 $33,29 

Months 

RItte Sensitive Assets: 

h a m  and Mortgagc Hacked Securities ( I )  

Federal Funds Sold 

Investment Securities 
Told interest-carning assets 

Rate Sensitive Liabilities: 

NOW accounts 

Savings Accounts 

Money market accounts 

Ccrtificate of Deposits 

Borrowings 

Total interest-hearing liabilitics 

Interest Sensitivity Gap 

Cumulative Interest Sensitivity Gap 
Ratio of Cumulative Gap to Total Katc 

Sensitivc assets 

( I ) Includes securities availablc-for-sale. 

$2,327 ($29,585) ($36,280) ($27,084) ($24,669) $33,296 

(r.490/0 -6.26% -7.67% -5.73% -5 22Yu 7.04% 

The table above assumes that fixed maturity deposits are not withdrawn prior to maturity and that transaction accounts will 
decay as disclosed in the table above. 

Certain shortcomings arc inhcrcnt in the method of analysis presented in the table above. Although certain assets and 
liabilities may have similar maturities or pcriods of repricing, they may react in different degrees to changes in  the markct interest 
rates. The interest rates on certain types or assets and liabilities may fluctuate in advance of’ changes in market intcrcst rates, while 
rates on othcr types o f  assets and liabilities may lag behind changes in market interest ratcs. Certain assets, such as adjustable-rate 
mortgages, generally have features that restrict changes in interest rates on a short-tcnn basis and over the life of thc assct. In the 
event of a change in intcrcst rates, prepayments and early withdrawal lcvcls would likely deviate significantly from those assumed in 
calculating the table. Additionally, an increased credit risk may result as the ability of many borrowers to service their debt may 
decrcasc in the event of an interest rate increasc. Virtually all of the adjustable-rate loans in Carver’s portfolio contain conditions that 
rcstrict the periodic change in interest ratc. 

Ne/ Portfolio Vrrlu~ (“PJPV’~ Analysis. As part of its efforts to maximize net interest income and manage the risks 
associated with changing interest rates, mmagcment uses the NPV methodology. 

Under this methodology, IRR exposure is aqsessed by reviewing thc estimated changes in net interest incomc (“NII”) and 
NPV that would hypothetically occur if interest rates rapidly rise or fall all along the yield curve. Projcctcd values oTNTT and NPV at 
both higher and lower regulatory defincd ratc scenarios are compared to base case values (no change in rates) to determine the 
sensitivity to changing intcrcst ratcs. 
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Presented below, as of March 31, 2003, i s  an analysis of the Rank’s IRR as measured by changes in NPV and NII for 
instantaneous and sustained parallel shifts of 100 basis points in market interest rates. Such limits have been established with 
consideration of the impact of various rate changes and the Bank’s currcnt capital position. The information set forth below relates 
solely to the Bank; however, because virtually all of the Company’s IRR exposure lies at the Bank level, management believes the 
table below also accurately reflects an analysis of the Company’s TRR. 

Net Portfolio Value NPV as a O/u of PV of Assets 
Change in Rate $ Amount $ Change YO Change NPV Ratiu Change 

(Dollars in thousands) 
t 300 bp 66,134 -9,080 -12% 12.69% -121 by 
+200 bp 70,004 -5,209 -7% 13.24% - 66bp 
+ 100 bp 72,874 -2,330 -3% 13.62% - 2Xbp 

(100) bP 77,241 2,028 3% 14.12% + 22bp 
0 bP 7S,2 13 - - 13.90% 

Risk Measures: +200 BP Rate Shock 
Pre-Shock NPV Ratio: NPV as % of PV of Assets 
Post-Shock NPV Ratio 
Sensitivity Measure; Decline in NPV Ratio 

March 31,2003 

13.90% 
13.24% 
- 66bp 

Certain shortcomings are inherent in the methodology used in the above IRR measurements. Modeling changes in NPV 
require thc making of certain assumptions, which may or may not reflect the manner in which actual yields and costs respond to 
changes in market interest rates. In this regard, the NPV table presented assumes that the composition of Carver’s interest sensitive 
assets and liabilities existing at the beginning of a period remains constant over the period being measured and also assumes that ii 
particular change in interest rates is reflected uniformly across the yield ciirve regardless of the duration to maturity or repricing of 
specific assets and liabilities. Accordingly, although the NPV table provides an indication of Carver’s IKR exposure at a particular 
point in time, such ineasurements are not intended to and do not provide a precise Korecast of the effect of changes in market interest 
rates on Carver’s net interest income and will differ from actual results. 

Avcragc Balance, lntcrcst and Avcrage Yields and Rates 

The following table sets forth certain information relating to Carver’s average interest-earning assets and average interest- 
bearing liabilities and reflects thc avcragc yield on assets and the avoragc cost of liabilities for the years indicated. Such yields and 
costs are derived by dividing income or expense by the average balances of assets or liabilities, regectively, for the periods shown, 
Avcragc balances arc derived from average month-end balances, except for federal funds which are derived from daily balances. 
Managemcnt docs not believe that the use of avcragc nionthly balances instcad of avcragc daily balances on all other accounts has 
caused any material difference in the inlomation presented. 

The table also presents inforination for the years indicatcd with respect to the difference bctwccn the weighted avcragc yield 
earned on interest-earning assets and the weighted avcragc ratc paid on interest-bearing liabilities, or “interest ratc spread,” which 
savings institutions have traditionally used as an indicator of profitability. Another indicator of an institution’s profitability is its “net 
interest margin,” which is its net interest income divided by the average balance of interest-earning assets. Net interest income is 
affcctcd by the interest rate spread and by the relative amounts of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities. When 
interest-earning assets approximate or exceed interest-bearing liabilities, any positive interest ratc spread will generate net interest 
income. 
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Intcrest-earning Assets: 

Investmnt securities (2) 
Mortgage-backed securities 
Federal funds 

Non-interes teaming as sets 

Luans (1) 

Total interest-earning assets 

Total assets 

Tnterest-bearing Iiatilities: 
kposits: 

Qlcchg 
Savings and clubs 
Money mukt accounts 
Certificates of deposit 

Total deposits 
Borrowcd mncy 
Total deposits and interest-bearing liabilities 

Non-interes t-bearing liabilities: 
accking 
Other hbilities 

Stockholders' equity 

Net interest incorn 

Total hbilities 

Total hbilities and stockholders' equity 

Avcmgc intcrcst mtc spread 

Net interest mrgin 

Ratio ofaverage interesteammg assets to 
mteres t-bearing hbilities 

At Mrch 31,2003 Year Ehdedkch 31,2003 
Awrage Awrage 

Balance Meld Balance Interest Yield 
(Dollars in thousands) 

$ 292,738 7.62?! $282,439 $ 2  I, 1 82 7.500/0 
44,212 3.61% 36,060 1,614 4.400/0 

126,813 4.23% 93,002 4 3 2  4.600/0 
5.500 3.Wh 19.744 300 1.52% 

469,263 6.2Ph 431,845 27,378 6.34% 
40,582 30,4 14 

$ 509,845 !J 462,259 

$ 18,190 0.52% $ 18,138 130 0.72% 
128,935 1.06% 127,004 1,477 1.16% 
20,735 0.91% 16,747 1 89 1.13% 

162.765 2.15% 155.187 3.964 2.55% 
330,625 1.56% 317,076 5,760 1.82% 
l08,% 3.3Ph 80,861 3,223 3.9% 
439,62 1 2.01% 397,937 8,983 2.26% 

16,539 15,234 
1Z612 9,880 

468,772 423,os 1 
41,073 39,208 

$ 509,845 $462,259 
$ 18,395 

4.270/0 4.Wh 

4.360/0 4.26% 

108.52% 106.74% 

(1) Includes non-accrual loans 
(2) Includes FHLB stock. 
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Year Ended March 31. 
2002 2001 

Interest-earning Assets: 

Investment securities ( 2 )  
Mortgage-backed securities 
Federal funds 

Non-intcrcst-carning assets 

I,oans (1) 

Total interest-earning assets 

Total assets 

Interest-bearing Liabilities: 
Deposits: 

Checking 
Savings and clubs 
Money market accounts 
Certificates of deposit 

Total dcposits 
Borrowed money 

Total interest-bearing liabilities 
Non-interest-hearing liahilities: 

Checking 
Other liabilities 

Total liabilities 
Stockholders' equity 
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity 
Net interest income 

Interest rate spread 

Net interest margin 

Ratio of avg interest-earning assets to 
interest-bearing liabilities 

( I )  Includcs non-accrual loans. 
(2) Includes FHLB stock. 

RateNolume Analysis 

Aver age Average 
Balance Interest Yield Balance Interest Yield 

(Dollars in thousands) 

$ 297,130 $ 223x6 7.60% $ 278,264 $ 21,398 7.69% 
38,505 2,324 6.04% 43,350 2,874 6.63% 
50,450 2,918 5.78% 48,X99 3.012 6.16% 
13,662 426 3.12?'0 I X,25h 1,023 5.60% 

399,747 28,254 7.07%) 388,769 28,307 7.28% 
26,177 

$ 425,924 
27,127 

$ 415,896 

$ 21,114 237 1.12% $ 15,926 253 I .59% 
126,065 2,342 1.86% 137,305 3,05 I 2.22% 
16,181 302 1.87%) 17,598 412 2.34% 

133,624 5,246 3.93% 94,006 4,740 5.04% 
296,984 8,127 2 74% 264,835 8,456 3.19% 
78,153 3,920 5.02% 99,783 5,822 5.84% 

375,137 12,047 3.21% 364,6 18 14,278 3.92% 

7,7Xl 11,568 
8,809 7,072 

391,727 383,258 
34,197 32,638 

$ 425,924 $ 415,896 
$ 16,207 $ 14,029 

3.86% 3.36% 

4.05% 3.61% 

106.56Yn 106.62% 

The following table sets forth information regarding the extent to which changes in interest rates and changes in volume of 
interest related assets and liabilities have affected Carver Federal's inleresl income and expense during the periods indicated. For 
each category o f  interest-earning asset and interest-bearing liability, information is provided for changes attributable to (i) changes in 
volume (changes in volume multiplied by old rate), (ii) changes in rates (change in rate multiplied by old volume), and (iii) changes in 
ratdvolume. Changes in rateholumc variance arc allocated proportionately between changes in rate and changes in volume. 

21 



Year Ended March 31, 
2003 vs. 2002 

Increase Wecrease) due to 
2002 vs. 2001 

Increase (Decrease) due to 

Interest-earning assets: 
Loans 
Investment securities 
Mortgage-backed securities 
Fcdcral funds 

Total intcrcst carning assets 

Interest-bearing liabilities: 
Checking 
Savings and clubs 
Money Market accounts 
Certificates of’ deposit 

Total dcposits 
Borrowed money 

Total deposits and interest-bearing liabilities 

Net change in net interest income 

Vnlume Rate Total Volume Rate Total 
(Dollars in thousands) 

55 1 (1,834) (1,283) 1,55S ( I  ,049) 506 

541 (2,914) (2,367) 1,378 (1,707) (329) 
107 (804) (697) (1,085) (8 17) ( 1,902) 
654 13.7 1 x \  (3.064) 293 (2.5241 (2.23 1) 

\ I  I > ,  , .. 

$ 214 $ 1,974 !! 2,188 $ 795 $ 1,382 $ 2,17X 

Comparison of Financial Condition at March 31,2003 and 2002 

At March 31, 2003, total assets increased by $59.5 million, or 13.2%, to $509.8 million, coinpared to $450.3 million at 
March 31, 2002. The increase in total assets was primarily attributable to increases in total securities. Total securities at March 3 I, 
2003 incrcascd $60.1 inillion to $165.6 million from $1052 million at March 31, 2002, rcflecting a $39.2 inillion increase in 
available-for-sale securities and a $20.9 million increase in held-to-maturity securities, In November 2002, the Bank transferred $22.8 
inillion of mortgage-backed and othcr sccuritics from available-[or-sale to held-to-maturity. The increasc in availablc-for-sale 
securities, excluding securities tranderred to held-lo-maturity, primarily reflects purchascs of $91.1 million substantially offset by 
$28.7 million in principal repayments, maturities and calls and a $686,000 increase in the market value of the portfolio. The increase 
in held-to-maturity securities retlects securities transfcrrcd from available-for-sale of $22.8 million and purchases of $4.1 million 
offset by principal payments and maturitics of $6.6 million. Available-for-sale securities represented 77.9% of thc total securities 
portfolio at March 3 I ,  2003, compiircd to 85.2% at March 3 1, 2002. 

Loans rcccivitblc, net, incrcascd by $3.0 million, or I .O%, to $202.7 million, compared to $289.7 inillion one year ago. The 
loan growth during fiscal 2003 rcprcscntcd loan originations of $59.6 million and loan purchases of $42.3 million, ofkel by principal 
repaymcnts of $96.4 million and loans sold to Fannie Mae of $2.5 million. Thc increasc in inortgagc loall principal repayments, 
originations and purchases in tiscal 2003 and tiscal 2002 is primarily a rcsult of the lower interest rate environment during both fiscal 
years which has increased the level of inortgagc rcfinancc activity. 

At March 31, 2003, total Liabilities increased $55.2 million, or 13.3%, to $468.8 million, compared to $413,h million at 
March 31, 2002. Deposits increased $22.2 million, or h.X%, to $347.2 million at March 31, 2003 from $325.0 million at March 31, 
2002. The increase in deposits was primarily attributable to increases of $1 1.4 million in certificates of deposit, of which $5.0 was an 
individual government deposit, $5.5 million in money markct accounts, $3.1 million in demand accounts and $2.2 million in rcgular 
savings and club accounts. Advances from the FIILB-NY and other borrowed money increased $33.3 million, or 44.1%, to $109.0 
million at March 31,2003, from $75.7 million one year ago. 

At March 31, 2003, stockholders’ equity increased $4.3 million, or 11.8%, to $41.1 million, coinpared to $36.7 inillion at 
March 3 I ,  2002. The increase in stockholders’ equity was primarily attributable to net income of $3.X million, other comprehensive 
income, net of taxes, of $634,000 and the amortization of the allocated portion of shares held by the Carver Federal Employcc Stock 
Ownership Plan of $152,000. These increases were partially offset by a net increasc in treasury stock holdings of $52,000 and 
dividends declared of $3 13,000. The Bank’s capital levels meet rcgulatory requirements of a well capitalized financial institution. 
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Comparison of Operating Results For The Years Ended March 31,2003 and 2002 

Net Income 

' h e  Rank reported net income for fiscal 2003 of $3.8 million, compared to $4.7 million for the prior fiscal year. Net income 
available to common stockholders for fiscal 2003 was $3.6 million, or $1.52 per dilutcd coinrnon share, compared to $4.5 million, or 
$ I  .X9 per diluted cominoii share, for fiscal 2002. The decrease in net income was primarily due to a $2.2 niillion increase in federal 
income taxes, a $1.3 tnillion decrease in non-interest income and ii $494,000 increase in non-intcrcst expense partially offset by a $2.2 
million improvement in net interest income and a $900,000 decrease in the provision for loan losses. 

Interest Income 

lnterest income for fiscal 2003 was $27.4 million, a decrcasc of $876,000, or ?.I%, from the prior year. The avcrage 
balance of interest-earning assets increased to $43 1 .X million for fiscal 2003 from $399.7 million for the prior year. This increase was 
more than offset by a decline in the average yield on interest-earning assets to 6.34% for fiscal 2003, compared to 7.07% for fiscal 
2002. 

Interest income on loans dccrcased by $1.4 million, or 6.20/0, to $21.2 million for tiseal 2003 coinpared to $22.6 million for 
fiscal 2002. The decrease in interest income koin loans reflects a decrease of$14.7 million, or 4.9%, in the average balance of loans 
to $282.4 million for fiscal 2003 compared to $297.1 inillion for fiscal 2002, coupled with a 10 basis point dccrcase in the average 
rate earned on loans to 7.50% for tiscal 2003 from 7.60% for the prior year. 'The decrease in the average balance of loans retlccts 
amortization of prepayments in excess of originations and purchases. The dcclinc in the average rate earned on loans was principally 
due lo the downward pricing on loan product? during thc continuing declining interest rate environment during fiscal 2003. 

Interest income 011 mortgage-hacked securities increased by $1.4 million. or 46.7%, to $4.3 million for fiscal 2003, 
compared to $2.9 million for the prior year, reflecting an increase of $42.6 inillioii in the averagc balance of mortgage-backed 
securities to $93.0 million for fiscal 2003 coinpared to $50.5 million for fiscal 2002. The increase in the average balance of such 
securities was due to the utilization of part of the proceeds received from incrcascd borrowings and deposits, coupled with the 
redeployment of mortgage loan principal repayments, to purchase mortgagc-backed securities. This increase was partially offset by a 
11 8 basis point decrease in the average rate earned on mortgage-backed securities to 4.60% from 5.78%. 

Interest income on invcstincnt securities decreased by approximately $7 10,000, or 30.6%, to $1.6 tnillion for fiscal 2003, 
compared to $2.3 million for the prior year. The increase in interest income on investment securities retlects a I64 basis point 
decrease in the average rate earned on investment securities to 4.40% kotn 6.04% and a decrease of  $1.8 million in thc average 
balance of investment securities to $36.7 million for fiscal 2003 compared to $38.5 million for fiscal 2002. 

Interest income on federal funds decreased $1 26,000, to $300,000 for Ijscal 2003, compared to $426,000 for the prior year. 
The decrease IS attributable to a 1hO basis point decrease in the average rate earned on federal funds, partially offset by a $6.1 million 
increase in the avcrage balance of federal funds. 

Znterest Expense 

Interest expense decreased by $3.1 million, or 25.40/, to $9.0 million for fiscal 2003, compared to $1 2.0 million for thc prior 
year. The decrease in interest expense reflects it decline of 95 basis points in the average cost of interest-bearing liabilities. This 
decline in average rate paid was partially offset by a $22.8 inillion increase in the average balance of interest-bearing liabilities to 
$397.9 inillion in fiscal 2003 from $375.1 inillion in fiscal 2002. The increase in the average balance of intel-est-bearing liabilities in 
fiscal 2003 compared to fiscal 2002 was due to incrcascs in the average balance of interest-bearing deposits and, to it lcsscr extent, 
increases in the average balance of borrowed money. 

Tnterest expcnsc on deposits decreased $2.4 million, or 29.1%, to $5.8 million for tiscal 2003, compared to $X. I  million for 
the prior year. This decrease i s  attributable to a 92 basis point decrease in the cost of average deposits partially offset by a $20.1 
million, or 6.X%, increase in  the average balance of interest-bearing deposits to $317.1 inillion for fiscal 2003, compared lo $297.0 
million for fiscal 2002. The increase in the avcragc balance of interest-bearing dcposits was primarily due to an increase in the 
average balance of certificates of deposit of $2 I .h million, or 16.1 %. The increasc in average interest-bearing deposits was achieved 
through increased retail production brought about by enhanced marketing cfforts. The decrease in the average rate paid on deposits 
wiis principally due to the declining interest rate environment experienced in fiscal 2003. 

Interest expense on borrowed money decreased by $647,000, or 17.X%, to $3.2 inillion for tiscal 2003, compared to $3.9 
niillion for the prior year. The decrease in interest expense on borrowed money for fiscal 2003 reflects a decrease ol" 103 basis points 
in the average cost of borrowed money partially offset by a $2.7 million increase in the average bitlance of borrowed money. The 
decrease in average cost of boirowings was due to the continued declining interest rate environment experienced during fiscal 2003. 

23 



Net interest income represents the difference between income on interest-earning assets and expense on interest-bearing 
liabilities. Net interest income depends priinarily upon the volume of interest-earning assels and interest-bearing liabililies and the 
corresponding interest rates earned and paid. Our net interest income is significantly impacted by changes in interest rate and market 
yield curves. See “Discussion of Market Risk-Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis” for further discussion on the potential impact of 
changes in interest rates on our results of operations. 

Net interest income before the provision for loan losses increased $2.2 inillion, or 13.5%, to $18.4 million for fiscal 2003 
compared to $16.2 million for the prior year. Net interest income benefited from a general interest rate decline, as well as an increase 
in deposits. This benefit was partially orfset by an increase in borrowed money, a dccrcasc in loan originations and average loan 
balances and accelerated prepayments of mortgage-backed securities. The 95 basis poinl decrease in lhe cos1 of interest-bearing 
liabilities used to fund interest-earning assets, coupled with a 73 basis point decrease in the return on average interest-earning assets, 
contributed to a 22 basis point increase in the interest rate spread to 4.08% for fiscal 2003, compared to 3.86% for the prior year. The 
net interest margin increased to 4.26% for fiscal 2003, compared to 4.05% for fiscal 2002. 

Pmvtvion jiw Loan Losses 

For fiscal 2003 there were no provisions recorded for loan losses, compared to $900,000 for fiscal 2002. The Bank records 
provisions for loan losses, which are charged to earnings, in order to maintain the allowance for loan losscs at a level that is 
considered appropriatc to absorb probable losscs inherent in the existing loan portfolio. The provision in each period reflects 
management’s evaluation of the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses. Factors considered include lhe volume and type of lending 
conducted, the Bank’s previous loan loss experience, the known and inherent risks in the loan portfolio, adverse situations that may 
affect the borrowers’ ability to repay, the estimated value of any underlying collaleral, trends in lhe local and national economy and 
trends in the real estate market. Management believes that the decrease in provisions for loan losses was warranted by the decreases 
in charge-offs and non-performing assets. 

During fiscal 2003, the Bank had net rccovcrics of approximately $30,000, compared to net charge-offs of $323,000 for 
fiscal 2002. At March 31, 2003, nun-pcrfonning loans totaled $1.8 million, or 0.6% of total loans, compared to $2.8 inillion, or 1.0% 
of total loans, at March 31, 2002. At March 31, 2003, the Bank’s allowance for loan losses was $4.2 million compared to $4.1 
inillion al March 31, 2002, resulting in a ratio of the allowance to non-pcrfoniiing loans of 230.7% at March 31, 2003, compared to 
146.2% at March 3 I ,  2002, and a ratio of allowance for possible loan losses to total loans of 1.40% and 1.41 % at March 3 1, 2003 and 
March 31, 2002, respectively. Management believes the Company’s reported allowance for loan loss at March 31, 2003 is both 
appropriate in the circumstances and adequate to provide €or cstiniatcd probable losses in the loan portfolio. For further discussion of 
non-performing loans and allowance for loan losses, see “Business --General Description of Business - Asset Quality” and Note I to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Nan-Interest Income 

Non-intcrcst income is composed of loan fees and service charges, gains or losses from the sale o f  securities and certain 
other items, fee income for banking services and miscellaneous non-interest income. Non-interest income decreased $1.3 million, or 
29.5%, to $3.2 tnillion for ftscal 2003, compared to $4.5 million for fiscal 2002. Despite increases in fees and charges for deposits 
and loans, non-interest income decreased due to the inclusion in fiscal 2002 of $1.4 inillion relaling to the sale of securities, $987,000 
relating to the sale of the Bank’s Bast New York branch and the loss $ I O  1,000 from the sale of the Bank’s automobile loan portfolro. 

Excludiiig the income and loss from sales of securities, loans and deposits, total non-interest income increased by $96 1,000, 
or 43.7%. compared to fiscal 2002. Loan fees and service charges amounted lo $1.3 inillion for fiscal 2003, a $655,000, or a 95.5%, 
increase from the prior year. The increase in loan fees and service charges is primarily attributable to substantially higher mortgage 
prepayment penalties, priinarily resulting from inultifainily borrowers prepaying due to the lower interest rate environment, and a 
restructuring of the Bank’s loan fees in the second quarter of fiscal 2003. Depository fees and charges incrcascd $316,000, or 21.1%, 
to $1.8 millioii for fiscal 2003 from $1.5 million for fiscal 2002. The increase in depository fees primarily relates to increased ATM 
fees and the restructuring of the Bank’s service charges in the second quarter of tiscal 2003. 

Non-Interest Expense 

Non-interest expense increased by $494,000, or 3.5%, to $14.7 million for fiscal 2003, compared to $14.2 inillion for the 
prior fiscal year. The increase in nowinterest expense was primarily attributable to increases of $307,000 in net occupancy and 
equipment expenses and $269,000 in salaries and employee benetits, slightly offset by a decrease of $82,000 m other non-interest 
expense. The increase in net occupancy and equipment expenses are related to the opening of the Malcolm X Rlvd. branch in 
September 2001 and the renovation of an existing branch facility which resulted in increases in maintenance contracts, building taxes 
and water and sewer expense. The increase in salaries and employee benefits was primarily attributable to increased compensation 
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resulting from the Bank being able to successfully till key management positions including the Chicf Operating Officer, Chief 
Financial Officer, Chief Lending Officer and Chief Crcdit Officer positions. 

Incvme Tux Expense 

Income tax cxpcnse was approximately $3.0 million for fiscal 2003, a $2.2 million, or 244.30/, increase from $881,000 for 
fiscal 2002, reflecting the benefit of the Bank’s tax loss carryforward utilized in fiscal 2002 coupled with higher pre-tax income in 
fiscal 2003. During the fourth quarter of fiscal ycar 2002, the Bank fully utilized its tax loss carryforward resulting from prior period 
losses and began to accrue for federal taxes. The effective tax rate in fiscal 2003 was 44,2% compared to 15.7% in fiscal 2002. 

Comparison of Operating Results For The Years Ended March 31,2002 and 2001 

Net Income 

The Rank reportcd net income for fiscal 2002 of $4.7 million, compared to a net loss of $389,000 for the same period the 
prior year. Net income available to common stockholders for fiscal 2002 was $4.5 million, or $1.89 per diluted common share, 
compared to ii  loss of $586,000, or $0.26 per diluted coinmon share, for fiscal 2001. The increase in the net incomc was priinarily 
due to a $2.2 million improvement in net interest income, a gain on the sale of securities of$1.4 millioii, a $1.2 million reduction in 
non-interest expense, and a $893,000 decrease in the provision for loan losses, partially offset by a $783,000 increase in income 
taxes. 

Interest Incvme 

Intcrcst income for fiscal 2002 amountcd to $28.3 million, a decrease of $53,000, or 0.2%, from the prior year. The 
decreasc in interest incomc was primarily attributable to a declinc in the average yield on interest-earning assets to 7.07% for fiscal 
2002, compared to 7.28% for fiscal 2001. 

Interest income on loans increased by $ I  .2 million, or 5.6%, to $22.6 million for fiscal 2002 compared to $2 I .4 million for 
fiscal 2001. The increase in intcrcst iiicome from loans reflects an increase of $1 8.9 million, or h.X%, in the average balancc of loans 
to $297.1 inillion for fiscal 2002 comparcd to $278.3 million for fiscal 2001, partially offset by a nine basis point decrease in thc 
averagc ratc earned on loans to 7.60% for fiscal 2002 from 7.69% for the prior year. 

lntcrest income on mortgage-backed sccurities decreased by $94,000, or 3. I%, to $2.9 million for fiscal 2002, compared to 
$3.0 million for the prior year reflecting a 38 basis point dccrease in the avcrage rate earned on mortgage-hacked securities to 5.78% 
from 6.1 6%,, partially offset by an  increase of $1.6 million in the averagc balance of mortgage-backed securities to $50.5 million for 
fiscal 2002, compared to $48.9 million for tiscal2001. 

Interest incomc on investment securities decreased by approximately $550,000, or 19. I%, to $2.3 million for fiscal 2002, 
compared to $2.9 million for the prior ycar, reflecting a dccrcase of $4.9 million in Ihe averagc balance of investment securities to 
$38.5 million for fiscal 2002 compared to $43.4 million for fiscal 2001, coupled with a 59 basis point decrease in thc average rate 
carncd on investment securities to 6.04% from 6,63%. 

Interest income on federal funds decreased $597,000, to $426,000 for fiscal 2002, cornpared io $1 .I) million for the prior 
ycar. The decreasc is attributable to a 248 basis point dccrcase in the averagc rate earned on fcdcral runds, as wcll as a $4.6 million 
decrease in the average balancc of federal funds. 

Interest Expense 

Interest expense decreascd by $2.3 million, or 15.6%, to $12.0 million for fiscal 2002, compared to $14.3 inillion for the 
prior ycar. The decreasc in interest expensc reflects an improvcment of 71 basis points in the average cost of interest-bcaring 
liabilities, slightly offset by a $ 1  0.5 million increase in the avcrage balance of interest-bearing liabilities. 

Interest expensc on deposits decreascd $329,000, or 3.9%, to $8.1 rnillion for fiscal 2002, compared to $X.5 million for the 
prior year. This decrcasc is attributable to a 45 basis point decrease in the cost of avcrage deposits pastially offset by a $32.2 million, 
or 12.2%, incrcasc in the average balance of interest-bcaring deposits to $297.0 million for fiscal 2002, comparcd to $264.8 million 
for fiscal 2001. 
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Interest expensc on borrowed money decreased by $1.9 million, or 32.7%, to $3.9 million for fiscal 2002, coinpiircd to $5.8 
inillion for the prior year. Funds from deposit growth were used to pay down borrowed money. The decrease in interest expense on 
borrowed money for fiscal 2002 retlects a $21.6 million decline i n  the average balance of borrowed inoncy coupled with an 82 basis 
points decrease in thc average cost of borrowed money. 

Income Tax Expense 
1 

Net Interest Income 

~ 
Income tax expense was approximately $881,000 for fiscal 2002, an incrcasc from $98,000 for fiscal 2001, reflccting higher 

pre-tax income in fiscal 2002 as compared to 3 pre-tax loss in fiscal 200 1. During the foltrlh quarter of fiscal year 2002, the Rank 
fully utilized its tax loqs carryforward resulting from prior period losses and began to accrue for federal taxcs. The effective tax rate in 
fiscal 2002 was 15.7% as coinpared to (33.7%) in fiscal 2001. 

I 

I 

I 

Net interest income before the provision for loan losses increased $2.2 million, or 15Sn%, to $16.2 million for fiscal 2002 
compared to $14.0 million for the prior year. Net interest income benetited from a general interest rate decline, a reduction in 
borrowed money, as well as an incrcasc in deposits, loan originations and average loan balances. This benefit was partiidly offset by 
accelerated prepayments of mortgage-backed securities and the sale o f  lowcr cost deposits in a non-strategic branch that were 
replaccd by comparatively higher cost certificates of deposit. The 7 I basis point decrease in the cost of interest-hearing liabilities used 
to fund interest-earning assets coupled with a 21 basis point decrease in the return on average interest-earning assets contributed to a 
5 0  basis point increase in the intcrest rate spread to 3.86% for fisciil 2002, cornpared to 3.36% for thc prior ycar. The net interest 
margin increased to 4.05% for fiscal 2002, compared lo 3.61% for fiscal 2001, 

Provision for Loan Lossm 

Provision for loan losscs decreased by $893,000 c)r 49.8%, to $900,000, for tiscal 2002, coinpared to $1.8 million for fiscal 
2001. When dctcniiining the provision Tor lwan losscs, management assesses the iisk inherent in its loan portfolio based on 
information available ai such time relating to the volume and type of lending conducted, the Bank’s previous loan loss experience, the 
known and inherent risks in the loan portfolio, adversc situations that inay affect the borrowers’ ability to repay, the estimated value 
of any underlying collateral, trends in the local and national economy and trends in the real esiaie mal-kct. The provision for loan 
losses for fiscal 2002 rcprcsents the amount required to maintain the allowance for loan losscs at the lcvel required by the Company’s 
policy. During fiscal 2002, thc Bank charged-off approximately $323,000 of loans as comparcd to $1.2 million for tiscal 2001. At 
March 3 1,2002, non-perfonning loans totaled $2.8 million, or 1 .O% o f  total loans, compared to $2.5 million, or 0.9% of total loans, at 
March 31, 2001. At March 31, 2002, the Rank’s allowance for loan losses was $4.1 million compared to $3.6 million at March 31, 
2001, resulting in  a ratio of the allowance to non-performing assets of 146.2% at March 3 I ,  2002, compared to 11 8.6% at March 3 1, 
2001, and ;i ratio of allowance for possible loan losses to total loans of 1.41% and 1.24% at March 31, 2002 and March 31, 2001, 
respectively. 

Nun-Interest Income 

Nowinterest income is coinposed of loan fees and service charges, gains or losses from the sale of securities and certain 
other itcms, fee income for banking serviccs and miscellaneous non-interest income. Non-interest income increased $1 .G million, or 
54.2%. to $4.5 million for tiscal 2002, compared to $2.9 million for fiscal 2001. ‘I’hc increase in  non-interest income is primarily due 
to non-recurring income of $1.4 million relating to the sale of securities and to a lesser extent a $316,000 incrcase i n  other non- 
interest income, partially offset by a $101,000 loss in connection with the sale of thc Bank’s automobile loan portfolio during fiscal 
2002. Excluding non-recurring income from salcs of securities, loans and deposits, total non-interest income increased by $305,000, 
or 16. I YO, compared to fiscal 2001. 

Nun-Intcrest Expense 

Noli-intcrcst expense decreased by $1.2 million, or 8.0%, to $14.2 inillion for fisciil2002, compared to $15.4 inillion for the 
prior tiscal year. The dccrcasc in non-interest expense was primarily attributable to decreases of $ 1  .O million in other lion-interest 
expenses and $273,000 in net occupancy and equipment expenses, slightly offset by an increase of $61,000 i n  salaries and employee 
benefits. The decreases in non-interest expense wcrc attributable i n  part to cost reductions iis a result of branch sales and decreases in 
professional fees and FDIC deposit insurance costs. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Carver Federal's primary source< o f  flmds arc deposits, FHLB advances, and proceeds froin principal and interest payments 
on loans and mortgage-backed sccuritics. While maturities and schcduled amortization o f  loans and invcstments are predictable 
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sources of funds, deposit flow and mortgage prepayments are greatly influenced by general interest rates, cconoinic conditions and 
competition. 

Congress eliminatcd the statutory liquidity requiretnent which rcquired kderal savings banks to maintain a ininimum 
amount of liquid assets of between four and ten percent, as dctcrmined by the Director of thc O’I’S, the Rank’s primary federal 
rcgulator. The Rank is required to maintain sufficient liquidity to ensure its safe and sound operation. As a result of thc elimination of 
thc liquidity requirement, the Bank manages its liquidity through a Board-approved liquidity policy. At March 3 1, 2003, thc Bank’s 
liquidity ratio was I .4%. The Bank’s most liquid assets are cash and short-term investments. The level of these assets are dependent 
on the Bank’s operating, investing and financing activities during m y  given period. At March 3 1, 2003 and 2002, assets qualifying 
for short-tcrm liquidity, including cash and short-term investments, totaled $45.3 million and $50.0 million, respectively. 

The Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows present the change i n  cash from opcrating, investing and tinancing activities. 
During fiscal 2003, cash and cash cquivalcnts decreased by $ 1  1.7 million. Net cash used in operating activities was $1.0 million, 
representing primarily the results of operations adjusted for dcprcciation and ainortization and thc provision for loan losses. Net cash 
uscd in investing activities was $65.8 million, which was primarily the result of purchases of loans and securities and originations of 
loans partially offset by rcpaymcnts and maturities of loans and securitios. Nct cash provided by tinancing activitics was $55.1 
million, reflecting primarily net increases in deposits and borrowcd money. 

Rcgulatory Capital Position 

The Bank must satisfy three miniinum capital standards cstablishcd by the OTS. For a description of the OTS capital 
regulation, see “Regulation and Supcrvision-Federal Ranking Regulation -Capital Requirements.” 

The Bank prcsently exceeds all capital requirements :is currently promulgated. At March 31, 2003, the Bank had tangible, 
corc, and total risk-based capital ratios of 7.X‘%, 7.8% and 14.0%, respectively. 

The following table reconciles the Bank’s stockholders’ equity at March 3 I ,  2003 under accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America to regulatory capital rcquirements. 

Reeultltorv Caaital Reauiremcnts 

Stockholdcrs‘ Equity at March 3 I ,  2003 ( 1  ) 

Add: 

Deduct: 
Gcncral valuation allowances 

Unrealized loss (gain) on  sccurities available-for-sale, net 
Excess of cost over net assets acquircd 

Regulatory Capital 
Mi nimurn Capital rcquireinent 
Regulatory Capilal Excess 

( 1 )  Reflects Bank only. 

Impact of Inflation and Changing Prices 

GAAP Tangible Leverage Risk-Based 
Caoital Caoital Caaital Caaitill 

(In thousands) 
$ 40,653 $ 40,653 $ 40,653 $ 40,653 

- 3,885 

(750) (750) (750) 
(17x1 (1 78) (1 78) 

39,725 39,725 43,610 
7,628 20,34 1 24,844 

$ 32,097 $ 19,384 $ 18,766 

The tinancial statements and accompanying notes appearing clsewhcrc hcrcin have been prepared in accordance with 
generally acceptcd accounting principles, which require the measurcmcnt of financial position and operating results in terms of 
historical dollars without considering the changcs in the rclative purchasing power of money over timc due to inflation. The impact 
of inflation i s  reflected in the incrcascd cost of Carver Federal’s operations. Unlike most industrial companies, nearly all the assets 
and liabilities of the Bank arc monetary in  nature. As a result, intcrcst rates have a greater iinpact on Carver Federal’s performance 
than do the cffects o f  the general level of inflation. lntcrcst rates do not necessarily move in the samc dircction or to thc same extent 
as the prices of goods and services. 
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345 Park Avenue 
New York, NY 10154 

Padependent Auditor’s Report 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Carver Bancorp, Inc.: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of 
Carver Bancorp, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of March 31, 2003 and 2002 and the 
related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity and comprehensive 
income, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended March 31, 2003. 
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on 
our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 
used and the significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our 
opinion. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in 
all material respects, the fmancial position of the Company as of March 3 1, 2003 and 2002, and 
the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended 
March 31,2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America, 

New York, New York 

June 24,2003 



CARVER BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 

(In thousands, except share data) 
March 3 1, 

2003 2002 

ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents: 

Cash and duc from banks 
Federal Funds sold 

Total cash and cash equivalents 
Securities: 

Available-for-sale, at fiiir value (including pledgcd as collateral of 

Held-to-maturity, at amortized cost (including pledged as collateral of $35, I38 at March 3 I ,  2003 
$124,954 at March 3 1,2003 and $76,720 at March 3 I ,  2002 ) 

and $15,549 at March 31,2002; fair valueof$37,543 atMarch 31,2003 and $15,716 
at March 3 1, 2002 j 

Total securities 
Loans reccivable: 

Rcal estate mortgage loans 
Consumer and commercial business loans 
Allowance for loan losses 

Total loans receivable, net 
Office properties and equipmcnt, net 
Federal Home Loan Bank ofNew York stock, at cost 
Accrued intcrest receivable 
Identifiable intangible asset, net 
Other asscts 

Total assets 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Liabilities: 

Deposits 
Advances from thc Fcdcral Home Loan Rank of New York and other borrowed money 
Other liabilities 

Total liabilities 
Stockholders' equity: 

Preferrcd stock (par value $0.0 I pcr share; 1,000,000 
s h a m  authorized; 100,000 issued and outstanding) 

Common stock (par valuc $0.01 per share: 5,000,000 shares authormd; 2,3 16,358 sharcs issued; 
2,296,960 and 2,300,896 outstanding at March 31, 2003 and March 31,2002, respectivcly) 

Additional paid-in capital 
Retained carnings 
Unallocated common stock hcld by employee stock ownership plan ("ESOP") 
Unamortized awards of common stock under management recognition plan ("M RP") 
Treasury stock, at cost (19,398 shares at March 3 I ,  2003 and 15,489 at March 31,2002) 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity 
Total stockholders' equity 

$ 17,660 $ 13,751 
5,500 21,100 

23, I60 34,85 1 

129,055 89,821 

36,530 
165,585 

294,710 
2 ,  I86 

(4.158) 
292,738 

10,193 
5,440 
3,346 

178 
9,205 

$ 509,845 

15,643 
105,464 

291,510 
2,328 

(4,128) 
289,7 I0 

10,25 I 
3,763 
2,804 

391 
3,072 

$ 450,306 

$ 347,164 $ 324,954 
108,996 75,651 

12,612 12,959 
468,772 413,564 

1 1 

23 
23,78 1 
16,712 

23 
23,756 
13,194 

( 1  5 2 )  
( 5 8 )  

(138) 
116 

36.742 
$ 509.845 $ 450.306 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statcrnents. 
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CARVERBANCOW, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONS 0 LIDATED STAr EM EN'I'S 0 F 0 PERATIONS 

(In thousands, except per share data) 

For the Year h d c d  March 31, 
2003 2002 2001 

Interest income: 
Loans 
M ortg-lge-backed securities 
Invcs t mcnt sccurit ics 
Federal funds sold 

'Total interest income 

Interest expense: 
Deposits 
Advances and other borrowed money 

'Total interest expense 

Nct intcrcst incornc 

Provision for loan losscs 
Net interest income after provision for loan losscs 

Non-intcrcst incornc: 
Depository rees and charges 
Loan fees and service charges 
Gain on sale of investment securities 
Income from sale of branches 
Loss from sale of loans 
Othcr 

Total non-intcrcst incornc 

Non-mtcrcst cqcnsc: 
Compensation and bcncfits 
Net occupancy expense 
Equipment 
Other 

Total non-intcrcst cxponsc 

lncornc (loss) bcforc incornc taxcs 

Net mcome (loss) 
Income tax expense 

Dividends applicable to preferred stock 

Net income (loss) available to  common stockholders 

Earnings (loss) per common share: 
Basic 
Diluted 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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$ 21,182 $ 22,586 $ 21,398 
4,282 2,918 3,012 
1,614 2,324 2,874 

300 426 1,023 
27,378 28,254 28,307 

5,760 8,127 8,456 
3,223 3,920 5,822 
8,983 12,047 14,278 

18,395 16,207 14,029 

900 1,793 
18,395 15,307 12,236 

1,x13 1,407 1,342 
1,34 1 hX6 4X 1 

- 1,399 - 

987 1,013 

7 17 72 
3,161 4,485 2,908 

- (101) - 

6,774 6,505 6,230 
I ,2h I 1,144 I ,40 1 
1,610 1,420 1,294 
5,047 5,129 6,5 10 

14,692 14,198 15,435 

6,864 5,594 (29 1) 
3,033 8X I 9X 

%: 3,831 %: 4,713 $ (3x9)  

$ 197 $ 197 $ 197 

$ 3,634 $ 4,516 $ (586) 

$ 1.59 'F 1.08 $ (0.26) 
$ 1.52 $ 1.89 $ (0.26) 



CARVER BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARLES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

(In t howands) 
ArrlJMlJ1,ATED COMMON COMMON 

ADDITIONAL OTHER STOCK STOCK TOTAI. S TOCK- 

PREFERRED COMMON PAID-IN RI.:IAlNN:l) THF,AS l lHY COMPHEHENSIVE ACQUIHED B Y  ACQUIRED B Y  HOLDERS' 
STOCK STOCK CAPITAL EARNINGS STOCK INC'OMY; ESOP MnP tiQ111IY 

Ralancc - March 3l, 2000 $ 1 S 23 $ 23,789 s 9,4XO s - % - 5 (652) $ - $ 32,641 

Comprehensive (hss): 
Nct loss (389) (389) 

Comprehensive (krss),net of 
VdXS : (389) 

Dividends pad (298) (298) 

P m h a s c  oftrcasutystock (6 0 (6 n 

Purchase ofsham forMRP (95 j (95) 

Allocation ofESOP Stock (20) 3 I8 298 

Ralancc - March 3L 2001 1 23 23,169 8,793 (6 1) (334) (95)  32,006 

Compreheils ive mcomc: 
Net income 4,7n 4,l LZ 
Change in net unrealized gain 

on avaikbk-for-sale sectititas, 
net oftaxes 116 Ih 

Coinprehenswe income ,netof 
tams ' 

Dividends paid (3 12) 

4,829 

(3 

Purc has c of trcasury s toc k (5) (77) (82) 

AlbcationofBSOP Stock (8) 1x2 I74 

Purchase ofshaies f o r m  31 37 

Balance - March 3 1  2002 1 23 23,756 U,l94 (US) 116 (152) (58) 36,742 

Comprchcnswc mcotnc 

Net mcomc 3,831 3,831 
Change ni net u~makzcd 

gainon avarhhk-br-sale 
secinties,net oftaxcs 634 634 

Comprehenswc mcome,net of 
taxs 4,465 

Mulendq pard (3W (3 13) 

Treasurystock actrvlty 5 (52) (47) 
AllocatmnofCSC~P Stock 20 152 172 

Purchase ofsharcs forMKP 54 54 

B a l a n c e d l a r c h  31,2003 S 1 s 23 9; 23,781 $ 16,7L? $ (190) $ 750 s - 9 ;  (4) $ 41073 

See accompanying notes to conscilichttcxl financial statcmcnts. 
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CARVER B A N C O U P ,  INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDA'I'ED STATEMENTS O F  CASH FLOWS 

(In thousands) 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Net income (loss) 
Adjustments to reconcile ncl income (loss) to net cash (used in )  provided 

by operating activities: 
Provision for loan losses 
ESOP and M R P  expense 
Depreciation and amortization expense 
Amortization o f  intangibles 
Other accretion and amortization 
Loss from sale o f  loans 
Ciain on sale o f  branches 
(iain on side of forcclosed real estate 
lmpairmcnt o f  foreclosed real estate 
Net  gain on sales of available-for-sale securities 
Charge-off o f  branch improvements and related items, net 
Changes in  assets and liabililics: 

(Incrcasc) decrease in accrued interest receivahle 
(Increase) decrease in other assets 
(Decrease) increase in olhcr liabilities 
Increase (decrease) in accrued interest payable 

Net  cash (used i n )  provided by operaling activities 
Cash flows from investing activities: 

Purchases o f  securities: 
Available-for-sale 
I I  eld-to-maturity 

Available-for-sale 
Held-to-maturity 

Proceeds from principal payments,  maturities and calls o f  securities: 

Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale securities 
Disburserncnts for loan originations 
I.oans purchased from third parties 
Principal collections on loans 
(Purchase) redemption of FHLB stock 
Proceeds from loans sold 
Proceeds from sale of other real estate owned 
Additions to premises and equipment 

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities 
Cash flows from financing activities: 

Net increase in deposits 
Repayment of securilics repurchase agreements 
Net  Proceeds from (repayment o f )  FHLB advances and other borrowcd money 
Common stock repurchased 
Cash paid to fund sale ofdcposi ts  
Dividends paid on Common and Prcfcrrcd Stocks 

Net  cash provided by financing activities 
Net (dccrcase) increase in cash and cash equivalents 
(:ash and cash equivalents at beginning of lhc period 
Cash and cash equivalents a1 end o f  the period 

Supplemental  information: 
Noncash Transfcrs- 

Securities transfcrrcd from available-for -salc to held-to-maturity 
Securities transferred from held-to-maturity to available-for -sale 
Change in unrealized gain on  valuation of 

investments available-for-sale, nct  o f  taxes 

Yeur Ended March 31, 
2002 Z U 0 1  - 2003 - 

$ 3,831 f, 4,713 $ (3x0)  

900 
206 206 

1,224 1 ,155  
213 213 
48  I 625 

101 
(987) 

(77) 

( 1 , 3 0 0 )  

1,793 
203 

1,142 
214 

(710) 

( 1  ,o 13) 
(24) 
9 0 

222 

(91,112) (134,721) ( 1  66,227) 
(4,145) 

2 8,7 05 
6,578 

( 5  9 , s o  5 ) 
(42,260) 
96,432 
(1,677) 
2,453 

(1,166) 
(65,787) 

22,210 

33,345 
(100) 

(313) 
55,142 

(1 1,69 I )  
34,851 

$ 23,160 

79,233 
6,357 

32,676 
(63,190) 
(45,881) 
100,306 

1,992 
1,260 

553 
(1,172) 

(22,587) 

6 1,000 
(4,930) 

(25,019) 
(77) 

( I  5,383) 
(312) 

16,179 
3,093 

3 1.75% 
$ 34,851 

172.254 
11.077 

(30,l KO) 
(3 1,265) 
46.207 

160 
380 

(610) 
I . I96 

19,960 
(26,407) 
33,429 

(61) 
(21,464) 

(20K) 
5,159 
9,556 

22,202 
$ 31,758 

$ 22,811 $ - $  
45.700 

634 116 

Cash paid for- 
Interest paid 
Income taxes paid 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 

$ 9.616 $ 12,685 $ 13.K97 
3,106 413 238 
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CARVER BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Nature of operations 

Carver Bancorp, Inc. (“Carver” or the “Holding Company”), was incorporated in May 1996 and its principal wholly owned 
subsidiary is Carver Federal Savings Bank (the “Bank” or “Carvcr Fcdcral”). Carvcr Asset Corporation, CFSB Realty Corp. and 
CFSB Credit COT. are wholly owned subsidiaries of the Bank. CFSB Credit Corp. is currently inactive. The Rank was chartered in 
1948 and began operations in 1949 as Carver Federal Savings and Loan Association, a federally chartered mutual savings and loan 
association. The Bank converted to a federal savings bank in 1986 and changed its name at that time. On October 24, 1994, the Bank 
converted from mutual to stock form and issucd 2,314,275 shares of its common stock, par value $0.01 pcr sharc. On October 17, 
1996, the Bank completed its rcorganization into a holding company structure (the “Reorganization”) and bccame a wholly owned 
subsidiary of the Holding Company. In connection with the Reorganization, each share of the Bank’s outstanding common stock was 
exchanged for one share of the Holding Company’s common stock, par value $0.01 per share. See Note I1 

Carver Federal’s principal business consists of attracting deposit accounts through its branch offices and investing those 
funds in mortgage loans and other investments permitted by federal savings banks. The Bank has five branches located throughout 
the City of New York that primarily serve the communities in which they operate. 

Basis of consolidated financial statement presentation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Holding Company, the Bank, the Bank’s wholly owned 
subsidiaries, Carver Asset Corporation, CFSR Realty Corp. and CFSR Credit Corp., and Alhambra Holding Corp., a subsidiary of the 
Holding Company which is inactive. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

l’hc consolidated financiiil stiitcinents have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States or America. In preparing the consolidatcd financial statcmcnts, miinagcmcnt is required to makc cstimatcs and 
assutnptions that affect the reported aniounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated statement of financial condition 
and revenues and expenses for the period then ended. Estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant changes in the near- 
term rclatc to prcpaymcnt assumptions on mortgage-backed securities, the determination of the allowance for loan losses and the 
valuation of rcal cstatc owncd. Actual rcsults could differ significantly from those estimates. 

Management believes that prcpaymcnt assumptions on mortgage-backed securities are appropriate, the allowance for loan 
losses i s  adequate and real estate owncd is properly valucd. Whilc managcmcnt iises available information to recognize losses on 
loans and real estate owned, future additions to the allowance for loan losses or future write downs of rcal cstatc owncd miiy bc 
necessary based on changes in economic conditions in the areas where Carver had extended mortgages and other credit instruments. 

In addition, various rcgulatory agcncics, as an intcgral part of their examination process, periodically review Carver’s 
allowance for loan losses and real estate owned valuations. Such agcncics may require Carver to rccognizc additions to thc allowancc 
for loan losses or additional write downs of real estate owned based on their judgments about information available to them at the 
timc of thcir cxamination. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and amounts due from depository institutions and federal funds sold. Generally, 
federal hnds sold are sold for one-day periods. 

Securities 

The Bank docs not havc trading securities, but does differentiate between held-to-maturity securities and available-for-sale 
securities. When purchased, securities arc classificd in cither the sccurities hcld-to-maturity portfolio or the securities available-for- 
sale portfolio. Securities can be classified as held-to-maturity and carried at amortizcd cost only if thc Bank has a positive intent and 
ability to hold those securities to maturity. If not classified as held-to-maturity, such securities are classified as securities available- 
for-sale. Available-for-sale securities are reported at fair value. Unrealized holding gains or losscs for securities available-for-sale 
are to be excluded from earnings and reported net of dcfcrred income taxes as a separate component of accumulated other 
comprehensive income, a component of Stockholders’ Equity. 
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Securities held-to-maturity are carried at cost, adjusted for thc amortization of premiums and the accretion of discounts 
using the level-yield mcthod over the remaining pcriod until mahirity. 

Gains or losses on sales of securities of all classifications are recognized based on the specific idcntification method. 

Loans receivable 

Loans receivable are carried at unpaid principal balances plus unamortized premiums, less the allowance for loan losses and 
defcrrcd loan fees and discounts. 

The Bank defers loan origination fccs and certain direct loan origination costs and accrctcs such amounts as an adjustment of 
yield over the contractual lives of the rclated loans using methodologies which approximate the interest method. Premiums and 
discounts on loans purchased are amortized or accreted as an adjustment of yield over thc contractual lives of the related loans using 
methodologies which approximate the interest method. 

Loans arc generally placed on non-accrual status when they arc past due 90 days or more as to contractual obligations or 
when other circumstances indicate that collection is questionable. When a loan is placed on non-accrual status, any interest accrued 
but not received is reverscd against interest incomc. Payments received on a non-accrual loan are eithcr applied to the outstanding 
principal balance or recorded as intercst income, depending on an assessment of the ability to collect the loan. A non-accrual loan is 
restored to accrual status whcn principal and interest payments bccoine current and its futurc collectibility is reasonably assured. 

Allowance for loan losses 

An allowance for loan losscs is maintained at a levcl considcred adequate to provide for potential loan losscs. Management 
is rcsponsible for determining the adequacy of the allowance for loan losqes and the periodic provisioning for estimated losscs 
included in the consolidatcd financial statements. Thc evaluation process is undcitaken on a quarterly basis, but may increase in 
rrequency should conditions arise that would require management’s prompt attention, such as business combinations and 
opportunities to dispose of non-performing and marginally performing loans by bulk sale or any development which may indicate an 
advcrsc trend. 

The methodology employed for assessing the appropriateness of the allowance consists of the following criteria: 

Establishment of rcscrvc ainounts for all specifically identified criticized loans, that have been desigiiatcd as requiring 
attention by management’s intcrnal loan review program, bank regulatory examinations or the external auditors. 

An average loss factor is applied to smaller balance homogenous types of loans not sub.ject to specific review. These 
loans include residential 1-4 family, multifamily, nonrcsidcntial and construction properties, which also includes consumer 
and business loans. 

An allocation to the reniaining loans giving effect to historical loss experiencc over several years and linkcd to cyclical 
trends. 

Recognition is also given to the changed risk profile brought about by business combinations, customer knowledge, the 
results of ongoing credit quality monitoring processes and the cyclical nature of economic and business conditions. An iniportant 
considcration in applying these mcthodologies i s  the concentration of real estate related loans located in the New York metropolitan 
area. 

The initial allocation or specific-allowance methodology comniences with loan officers and underwriters grading the quality 
of their loans on an cight-category risk classification scale. Loans identified from this process as below investment grade are referrcd 
to the Internal Asset Quality Review Coininittee for further analysis and idcntification of those factors that may ultimately affcct the 
full recovcry or collectihility of principal and/or interest. These loans are subject to continuous review and monitoring while they 
remain in the criticized category. Additionally, the Intcrnal Asset Quality Review Coininittee is responsiblc for performing periodic 
reviews of the loan portfolio that are indepcndcnt froin the identification process employed by loan officers and undenvritcrs. 
Gradings that fall into criticized categorics are further evaluated and rescrvc amounts are establishcd for each loan. 

Thc sccond allocation or loss factor approach to common or homogeneous loans is madc by applying the average loss factor 
to the outstanding balances in each loan catcgory. 

The final allocation of the allowance is made by applying several years of loss expcricnce to categones of loans. It gives 
recognition lo the loss expericncc of acquired businesses, business cycle changes and the rcal estate cotnponents of loans. Since 
many loans dcpcnd upon the siifficiency of collatcral, any adverse trend in thc rcal estate markets could scriously affect underlying 
values available to protect against loss. 
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Other evidence used to support the amount of the allowance and its coiiiponents arc as follows: 

Kcgulatoiy examinations 

Actual losses 

Carver Federal maintains a loan review systern, which allows for a periodic review of its loan portfolio and the early 
identification of potential problem loans. Such system takes into considcration, among other things, dclinquciicy status, size or louis, 
type of‘ collateral and financial condition of the borrowers. Loan loss allowances arc established for problem loans based on a review 
of such inforniation and/or appraisals of the underlying collateral. On the reinaintlcr of its loan portfolio, loan loss iillowances are 
based upon a combination or factors including, hut not limited to, actual loan loss experience, composition of loan portfolio, current 
economic conditions and management’s judgment. Although inanageincnt believes that adequate loan loss allowances have been 
established, actual losses are dependent upon future events and, as such, fuithcr additions to the level of the loan loss allowance may 
be necessary in thc futurc. 

Amount and trend of criticized loans 

Peer comparisons with other financial institutions 

Economic data associated with the real estate market in the Company’s market area 

Opportunities to dispose of marginally performing loans for cash consideration 

A loan is considered to be impaired, as dcfincd by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. I 14, 
“Accounting /),y Creditorsjbr lnipairnicnt o/‘u Loun ” (“SFAS 1 14’7, when i t  i s  probable that Carver Federal will be unablc to collect 
all principal and interest amounts duc according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. Carver Federal tests loans covered 
undcr SPAS 1 14 for impainiient if they are on nonaccnral status or have been restructured. Consumer credit nonaccrual loans arc not 
tested foi- iinpairmcnt because they are includcd in large groups of  smaller-balance hoinogeneous loans that, by definition along with 
leases, are excluded froin the scope of SFAS 114. linpaired loans are required to bc incasured based upon the prcscnt value of 
cxpcctcd future cash flows, discountcd at the loan’s initial cffectivc interest rate, or at the loan’s market price or fair valuc of the 
collateral if thc loan is collateral dependcnt. If the loan valuation is less than the recorded value of the loan, an inipainnent r e s e w  
iiiiist be established for the difference. The impairment reserve is establishcd by either an allocation of thc resci-ve for credit losses or 
by a provision for credit losses, depending on various circumstances. Inipiiinncnt reserves are not needed when credit losses havc 
bccn recorded so that the 1-worded investment in an impaired loan is less than the loan valuation. 

Concentration of risk 

l‘hc Bank’s principal lending activities are concentrated in loans secured by real estate, a substantial portion of which is 
located in the State of Ncw York. Accordingly, thc ultimate collectibility of a substantial portion or the Company’s loan porlrolio is 
susceptible to changes in Ncw York’s market conditions. 

Premises and equipment 

Premises and equipment arc comprised of land, at cost, and buildings, building improvements, furnishings and equipment 
and leasehold improvements, at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Dcprcciation and amortization charges are 
computed using thc straight-line method over the following cstiinatcd useful lives: 

Huildings and improvements 
Furnishings and cqu i pmen t 
Leasehold iinprovemcnts 

10 to 40 years 
3 to 10 years 
The lesser of uselill life or remaining tcrm of lease 

Signiffcant renewals and bettcrincnts are charged to the property arid equipment account. Maintenance and rcpairs are 
charged to cxpcnse in the year incurred. 

Real estate owned 

Real estate acquired by foreclosure or deed in lieu of foreclosurc is recorded at the fair value at the date or acquisition and 
thereafter carried at the lower of cost or fair valuc less estimated selling costs. The fair valirc of such assets detennincd based 
primarily upon independent appraisals and other relcviint factors. The ainounts ultimately recoverable Trom real cstate owiied could 
differ from the iict carrying value of these properties because of economic conditions. 

Costs incurred to improve properties or get them ready for sale arc capitalized. Revenues and expenses related to the 
holding and operating of propcitics arc recognized in operations as earned or incurred. Gains or losses on sale of properties arc 
recognized as incurred. 
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Identifiable Intangible 

Carver adopted Statetnent of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 (“SFAS No. 142”), “Goodwill and Other Intangible 
Assets’’ on January I ,  2002. SFAS 142 requires that goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives no longcr be amortized, 
but instead tested for impairment at least annually. 

Identifiable intangible assets relate primarily to core deposit premiums, resulting from the valuation of core deposit 
intangibles acquired in the purchase of two branch offices. These identifiable intangible assets are amortized using the straight line 
method over periods not exceeding the estimated average remaining life of the existing customer deposits acquired. Amortization 
periods range from 5 to 15 years. Amortization periods for intangible assets are monitor4 to determine if events and circumstances 
require such periods to be reduced. 

Income taxes 

Carver accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Temporary differences between the basis of assets 
and liabilities for tinancia1 reporting and tax purposes arc measured as of the balance sheet date. Dcfcrred tax liabilitics or 
recognizable deferred tax assets are calculated oil such differences, using current statutory rates, which result in future taxable or 
deductible amounts. The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the 
enactment datc. 

Impairment 

The company periodically evaluates long-lived assets, certain indentitiable intangibles, deferred cost and goodwill for 
indication of impairment in value. There has been no impairment for the past three years. When required, asset impairment will be 
recorded as an expense in thc current period. 

Earnings (loss) per common share 

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing income available to common Stockholders by the weightcd- 
avcrage number of common shares outstanding. Diluted EPS includes any additional common shares as if all potentially dilutive 
common shares were issued (c.g. convertible preferred stock). For the purpose of thcse calculations, unreleased sharcs of the Carver 
Federal Savings Rank Employee Stock Ownership Plan (“ESOP”) are not considcrcd to be outstanding. 

Treasury Stock 

‘I’reasury stock is rccorded at cost and is presented as ii reduction of stockholders’ equity. 

Pension Plans 

In  lcbruary 1998, the FASB issued SFAS No. 132, “Employws ’ Disckosures ahoul Pensions and OlhPr Postretircwcnt 
Rencflts ” (“SFAS 132”). SFAS 132 revises employers’ disclosures about pension and other postretirement benetit plans. It does not 
change thc measurement or recognition of those plans. Carver has niade the required disclosurcs in the accompanying Notes to the 
Consolictated Financial Statements. 

Stock-Rased Compensation Plans 

Compensation expense is recognked for the Bank’s ESOP equal to the fair value of shares committcd to be released for 
allocation to participant accounts. Any difference between the fair value at that time and thc ESOP’s original acquisition cost is 
charged or credited to stockholders’ equity (additional paid-in capital). Thc cost of unallocated ESOP sharcs (shares not yet 
committed to be released) i s  reflected as a reduction of stockholders’ equity. 

The Holding Company accounts for its stock option plan (“Stock Option Plan”) in accordance with Accounting Principles 
Board (“APE”) Opinion No. 25, Accountingjbr Sock Issued to Emp1o.yec.s. Accordingly, compensation expense is recognized only if 
the exercise price of the option is less than the fair value of the underlying stock at the grant date. SFAS 123, “Awounling,lor Stock- 
Based Compmsation ’’ (“SE4S 123 ’), cncourages entities to recognize the fair value of all stock-based awards (measured on the grant 
date) as compensation expense over the vesting period. Alternatively, SFAS 123 allows entities to apply the provisions of APB 
Opinion No. 25 and provide pro forma disclosures of net incomc and earnings pcr share as if the fair-value-based method defined in 
SFAS 123 had been applicd. The Holding Company has electcd to apply the provisions of APB Opiiijon No. 25 and pi-ovide these 
pro forma disclosures. 
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Carver applies Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 ,  “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related 
interpretations in accounting for our stock-based Plan under which there is no charge to earnings for stock option awards and the 
dilutivc effect of outstanding options is rcflccted as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share. 

Alternatively, Carver could have accounted for its Stock Option Plan under SPAS 123, under which coinpcnsation cost for 
stock option awards would be calculated and recognized over the service period (generally equal to the vesting period). Had Carver 
iipplicd WAS 123 for its Stock Option Plan, net income and earnings per common share would have been to the pro forma amounts 
indicatcd below for the years ended March 3 I : 

2003 2002 2001 
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data) 

Net Gain (loss) available to coimoii  shareholders: 
As reported $3,634 $4,5 I6 ($586) 

Total stock-bascd cmployee compensation expense 
determined under fair value based methods for 
all awards, net of related tax effects (88) (1 02) (173) 

Pro forma 9; 3,546 $ 4,414 $ (759) 

Basic gain (loss) pcr sharc: 
As rcported 
Pro forma 

Diluted gain (loss) per share: 
As rcported 
Pro fvnna 

$1.59 $ I  .9X ($0.26) 
I .ss I .94 (0.34) 

$ I  .52 $1.89 ($0.26) 
I .48 1.85 (0.34) 

The fair value of the option grants was estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model 
applying the following weighted average assumptions: risk-free intcrcst rates of 5.50%, 5.50% 5.50% 5.00% 4.50 % and 2.50%, for 
thc relevant years 1997, 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively; volatility of 30% for each of the years; expected dividend 
yield was calculated using annual dividends of $0.05 per sharc for 1997, 1999, 2001 and 2002,respectively, and $0.20 for 2003; and 
at1 expected life of  five years for employee option grants and seven ycars for directors option grants. 

The Holding Company’s management recognition and retention plaii (“MW’) is also accounted for in accordancc with 
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25.  The fair value of the shares awarded, measured at the grant date, is recognized as 
unearned compensation (a deduction from stockholders’ equity) and amortized to compensation expense as the sharec becotne vested. 
When MRP shares bccome vested, the Company records a credit to additional paid-in capital for tax benehts attribubable to any MRP 
dcductions for tax purposcs in excess of the grant-date fair value charged to expense for financial reporting purposes. 

Reclassifications 

Certain amounts in the consoliciated financial statements prcscntcd for prior periods have been reclassified to conform with 
the current year presentation. 
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The following is a summary of' securities at March 3 1,2003: 

Available-for-Sale: 
Mortgage-backed securities: 

Pass-through certiticates: 
Government National Mortgage Association 
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 
Federal National Mortgage Association 

Total mortgage-backed securities 
U.S. Govermnent Agency Securities 

Total available-lor-sale 

Gross Unrealized 
Carrying 

Value Gains Losses 
(Dollars in thousands) 

$ 47,066 $ 184 $ (130) 
19,614 90 (11) 
23,286 216 (32) 
89,966 490 (173) 
38,187 585 

128,153 1,075 (173) 

Estimated 
Fair Value 

$ 47,120 
19,693 
23,470 
90,283 
38,772 

129,055 

Held-to-Maturity : 
Mortgagc-backed securities: 
Pass-through certificates: 

Government National Mortgage Association 2,473 157 2,630 
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 27,482 682 28,164 

369 
37,543 Total mortgage-backed securitics 36,530 1,016 ( 3 )  

Total securities $164,683 $ 2,091 $ (176) $166,598 

Federal National Mortgage Association 6,203 177 6,380 
Small Business Administration 3 72 -0 

Total held-to-maturity 36,530 1,016 (3) 37,543 

The following is a summary of securities at March 3 I ,  2002: 

Gross Unrealized 
Carrying Estimated 

Vaiue- Gains Losses Fair Value 
(In thousands) 

Available-for-Sale: 
Mortgage-backed securities: 

Pass-through Certificates: 
Government National Mortgage Association $ 10,531 $ 55 $ (2) $ 10,584 
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 27,840 416 (7) 28,249 
Federal National Mortgage Association 1 1,435 88 (72) 11,451 

Collateralized Mortgage Obligations 136 136 
Total mortgage-backed securitics 49,942 559 (81) 50,420 _ _  

U.S. Government Agency Securities 
Total available-for-sale 

39,663 1 (263) 39,401 
89,605 560 (344) 8932 1 

Held-to-Maturity : 
Mortgage-backed securities: 

Pass-through certificates: 
Ciovernment National Mortgage Association 3,448 24 3,472 
Fcdcral Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 6,149 23 (53) 6,119 
Federal National Mortgage Association 5,607 74 (2) 5,679 
Small Business Administration 
Total mortgage-backed securities 
Total hcld-to-maturity 
Total securities 

410 7 446 . . .  

15.643 128 ( 5 5 )  15.716 
15,643 128 (55) 15,716 

$105,248 $ 688 $ (399) $105,537 
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The nct unrcalizcd gain on available-for-sale securities was $902,000 ($750,000 after taxes) at March 3 1, 2003 as compared 
to $216,000 ($116,000 after taxes) at March 3 I ,  2002. On Noveniber 30,2002 the Rank transferred $22.8 million of mortgage-backed 
securities from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity as a result of managcment’s intcntion to hold thcsc sccuritics in portfolio until 
maturity. A rclated unrcalizcd gain of $464,000 as of March 3 I ,  2003 continues to be reported as a separate component of 
stockholders’ equity and is amortized over the remaining lives or the securities as an adjustment to yield. Changes in unrcalizcd 
holding gains and losses resulted in an aftcr-tax incrcasc in stockholdcrs’ cquity of $634,000. These gains and losses will continue to 
fluctuate based on changes in the portfolio and market conditions. 

Sales of available-for-sale securities resulted in gross realided gains during the fiscal year ended March 3 1, 2002 (“fiscal 
2002”) of$1,4 million. There were no sales of securities in the fiscal years ended March 31, 2003 (“fiscal 2003”) and 2001 (“fiscal 
2001 ”). 

The following is a summary o f  the carrying value (amortizcd cost) and fair valuc of sccuritics at March 31, 2003, by 
remaining period to contractual maturity (ignoring carlicr call dates, if any). Actual maturitics may differ from contractual maturities 
because certain security issuers have the right to call or prepay their obligations. 

Carrying Fair 
Value Value 
(Dollars in thousands) 

Availablc-for-salc: 
Duc in onc ycar or less $ 22,109 $ 22,117 
One through tive years 16,190 16,770 
Five through ten years 1,813 1,933 
Aftcr ten years 88,041 88,235 

$ 128,153 $ 129,055 

Held-to-matu rity: 
Five through ten years $ 326 $ 345 
Aftcr tcn vears 36.204 37.198 

$ 36,530 $ 37,543 

NOTE 3, LOANS RECEIVABLE, NET 

A summary of loans receivable, nct follows: 

March 31, 
2003 211112 

Amount Percent Amount Pcrccnt 
(Dollars in thousands) 

Rcal cstiitc loans: 
One- to Ibur-hnily 
Mult i-family 
Non-rcsidcntial 
Construction 

Consumer and business 
Total gross loans 
Add: 
Premium on loans 
Less: 

$ 71,735 23.66 Yo $ 122,814 41.28 % 
I3 1,749 43.45 1 18,589 39.86 
79,244 26.13 40,101 13.48 
18,377 6.06 13,678 4.60 
2,125 0.70 2,328 0.78 

303.230 100.00 % 297.5 10 100.00 % 

867 906 

Loans in process (6,838) (3,936) 
Deferred fees and loan discounts (363) (642) 
Allowance Ibr loan losscs (4,ISX) 
Net loan portfolio $ 292,738 

39 

(4,128) 
$ 289.710 



At March 31, 2003, 93.6% of the Company’s real estate loans receivable were principally secured by properties locatcd in 
the State ofNew York. 

The mortgage loan portfolios serviced for the FHLMC and Fannic Mae arc not included in the accompanying consolidated 
financial statcrncnts. Thc unpaid principal balances of these loans aggregated $4.1 million, $2.9 million and $2.1 million at March 
3 1, 2003, 2002 and 2000, respectively. Custodial escrow balances, maintained in connection with the foregoing loan servicing, were 
approximately $16,000, $28,000 and $34,000 at March 3 1 ,  2003,2002 and 2000, respectively. During the year ended March 3 1,2003 
the Bank sold $2.5 million in loans with minimal gain recognized, as cornparcd to $1.3 million in loans sold during fiscal 2002 and a 
loss of $ 101,000 recognized. 

Thc following is an analysis of the allowance for loan losses: 

Ycar ended March 31, 
2003 2002 2001 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Balancc at bcginning of thc ycar 
Provision charged to opcrations 
Recoveries of amounts previously charged off 
Loans charged-off 
Balance at ending of the year 

$ 4,128 $ 3,551 $ 2,935 
900 1,793 

258 177 200 
(228) (500) (1,377) 

$ 4.158 $ 4.128 $ 3.551 

Non-accrual loans consist of loans for which the accrual of interest has becn discountcd as a rcsult of such loans becoming 
90 days or more delinquent as to principal and/or interest payments. Interest income on non-accrual loans is recorded when received. 
Restructured loans consist of loans where borrowers have been granted concessions in regards to the terms of their loans due to 
tinancial or other difficulties, which rendered them unable to repay their loans under the original contractual terms. 

At March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 the recorded investment in impaired loans was $1.8 million, $2.X million and $2.5 
million, respectively all of which represented non-accrual loans. The related allowance for credit losses was approximately $195,000 
and $146,000 at March 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The impaired loan portfolio is primarily collateral dependent. The average 
recorded investment in impaired loans during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 was approximately $1.8 million, 
$2.3 million and $3.2 million, respectively. For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company did not 
recognize any interest income on these impaired loans. Interest income of $173,000, $288,000 and $202,000, respectively, for the 
fiscal years ended March 3 1, 2003, 2002 and 2001 would have been recorded on impaired loans had they performed in accordance 
with the original contract. 

At March 3 1,2003 and 2002, thcrc wcrc no loans to officcrs. 

NOTE 4. PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT, NET 

The detail ofpremises and equipment is as follows: 

March 31. 

Land 
Buildings and improvements 
Leasehold improvements 
Furniture and equipment 

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 

2003 2002 
(Dollars in thousands) 

$ 415 $ 415 
8,477 8,074 

975 934 
5,383 6,992 

15,250 16,415 
5,057 6, I64 

S 10.193 $ 10.251 
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Depreciation and amortization charged to operations for the fiscal years cndcd March 3 1, 2003, 2002 and 2001 amounted to 
$1.2 million, $1.2 million and $1.1 million, rcspcctivcly. 

NOTE 5. ACCRUED INTEREST RECEIVABLE 

Thc detail of accrued interest receivable is as follows: 

March 31, 
2003 2002 

Loans receivable 
Mortgagc-backed securities 
Investments and other interest bearing assets 
Total accrued interest receivable 

(Dollars in thousands) 
$ 1,984 $ 1,735 

716 517 
646 552 

$ 3,346 $ 2,804 

NOTE 6. IDENTIFIABLE 1NTANGlBLES 

The identifiable intangible asset relates to the acquisition of the Bedford-Stuyvesant branch oftice. The detail is as follows: 

March 31, 
2003 2002 

(Dollars in thousands) 
Gross Net Gross Net 

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying 
Value Amortization Value Value Amortization Value 

Core deposit premiums $ 582 $ 410 .% 172 $ 582 $ 205 $ 377 
Other 22 16 6 22 8 14 

$ 604 $ 426 $ 178 $ 604 $ 213 $ 391 

NOTE 7. DEPOSITS 

Deposit balances and weighted average stated interest ratcs at March 3 1 are summarized as follows: 

At March 31, 
2003 2002 

Percent of Weighted Percent of Weighted 
Total Average Total Average 

Amount Deposits Rate Amount Deposits Rate 
(Dollars in thousands) 

Non-interest -bearing demand $ 16,539 4.8 % - % $ 13,463 4.1 yo - %  
NOW accounts 18,190 5.2 0.52 18,095 5.6 1.24 
Savings and club 128,935 37.1 1.06 126,779 39.0 1.71 
Money market savings account 20,735 6.0 0.91 15,232 4.7 1.78 
Certificates 
Total 

162,765 46.9 2.15 15 1,385 46.6 2.73 
$ 347,164 100.0 % 1.48 % $ 324,954 100.0 o/o 2.18 % 
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The scheduled inaturities of certificates of deposits arc as follows: 

March 31, 
2003 2002 

Certificates of dcposit by remaining 
term to contractual maturity: 

Within one year 

(In thousands) 

$ 127,668 $ 80,528 
After one but within two ycars 12,492 26,638 
AAcr two but within three years 10,387 10,495 
After three years 12,218 33,724 

Total $ 162,765 $ 151,385 

The aggregate amount o f  certificates of deposit with iniiiiinum denominations o f  $ IO0,OOO or more was approximately $100.1 million 
at March 3 1, 2003. 

Interest expcnsc on deposits for the years ended March 3 1 consists of the following: 

2003 2002 2001 
(In thousands) 

Demand 
Savings and club 
Money market 
Certificates of deposit 

Penalty for early withdrawal of 
certificates of deposil 

Total interest expense 

$ 131 $ 237 $ 253 
1,477 2,342 3,081 

189 302 412 
3,975 5,263 4,739 
5,772 8,144 8,485 

NOTE 8. BORROWED MONEY 

FlILB Advmcrs. FHLB advanccs and weighted average interest rates at March 3 I are summarizcd as follows, by remaining 
pcriod to maturity: 

March 31. 

Maturing 
Year Ended 
March 31, 

2003 
2004 
2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 
2012 

2003 

Weightcd 
Average Rate Amount 

1.93 18,250 
4.05 26,000 
3.46 32,840 
4.42 28, I34 
3.49 3,300 
3.50 265 

- %  $ 

2002 

Weighted 
Average Ratc Amvunt 

2.41 ?4 $ 15,500 
4.28 3,500 
4.05 26,000 
5.29 10,490 
5.17 19,484 

3.50 288 
3.59 % $ 108,789 4.18 % $ 75,262 

As a member of the FIILB, the Bank may have outstaiiding FHLB borrowings in a combination of term advances and 
overnight funds of up to 25% of its total assets, or approximately $ 1  20.7 inillion a1 March 3 1, 2003. Borrowings are secured by the 
Bank’s invcstincnt in FHLU stock and by a blanket security agreement. This agreement requires the Bank to maintain as collaleral 
certain qualifying assets (principally securities and residential tnortgage loans) not otherwise pledged. At March 3 I ,  2003 and 2002, 
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the advances were secured by pledges of the Bank's investment in the capital stock of  the FHLR-NY totaling $5.4 million and $3.8 
million, respectively and a blanket assigninent of the Rank's unpledged qualifying mortgage, mortgage-backed securities and 
investment portfolios. 

Scwwrtres Sold Under Agreements to Reptnrchu.w. In securities sold under agreements to repurchase, the Rank borrows 
funds through the transfer of dcbt sccuritics to thc FHLU, as countorparty, and concurrently agrees to repurchase the identical 
securities at a fixcd price on a specified date. Rcpurchasc agreements arc collaterali~cd by lhe securities sold and, in certain cases, by 
additional margin securities. At March 3 1, 2003 and 2002 there were no securities sold under agreements to repurchase outstanding. 

The following table sets forth certain information regarding Chrver's borrowed money at the dates and for the periods 
indicated: 

At or for the Year Ended 
March 31. 

Amounts outstanding at the end ofperiod: 

Weighted average rate paid at period end: 

Maximuin amount of borrowing outstanding at any month end: 

FHLB advances 

FHLB advances 

FHLB advances 
Rcpos 

FHLH advances 
Rcpos 

FHLB advances 
Repos 

Approximate average aniounts outstanding for period: 

Approximate weighted average rate paid during period: 

2003 2002 
(Dollars in thousands) 

%; 108,789 

3.59% 

$ 108,789 
- 

$ 80,861 

3.99% 
- %  

$ 75,262 

4.18% 

$ 100,094 
14,930 

$ 76,141 
2,888 

5.50?4" 
5.91% 

uwll 

NOTE 9. INCOME TAXES 

The components of income tax expense for the years ended March 3 I are as follows: 

m 2002 
(In thwwwls) 

F&d irmr~ tax (hefit): 
h t  $ 4,200 $ 569 
M d  (1,626) 1,792 

2374 2,361 
State and local incowe tax experwe (benetit): 

1,lW 913 98 
(645) 46 
459 959 98 

Total provision for i m  tax expme $ 3,033 $ 881 $ 98 
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The reconciliation of the expected federal tax ratc to the consolidated effective tax rate for the fiscal years ended March 31 is 
as follows: 

2003 2002 2001 
Amount Percent h u n t  Percent h u n t  Percent 

(Dollars in thousands) 

StatutoryF&d h m  tax $ 2,334 34.0 ?4 $ 1,!W2 34.0 % $ (99) 34.0 % 
Statc and local i n w m  tax=, net of Federd tax benefit 303 4.4 632 11.3 98 (33.6) 
Change in valuation allowme (2,439) (43.6) 157 (54.0) 
other 396 5.8 786 14.0 (58) 19.9 

Total i m  tax e x p x  $ 3,033 44.2 % $ 881 15.7 % $ 98 (33.7) % 

At March 31, 2001, Carver had net operating loss carryfonvards for federal income tax purposes of approximatcly $5.7 
million. These net operating loss carrytonvards were fully utilizcd during fiscal 2002. 

Carvcr’s stockholders’ equity includes approximately $2.8 million and $4.2 million at March 31, 2003 and 2002, 
rcspcctively, which has been segregated for federal income tax purposes as a bad debt reserve. The use of this amount for purposes 
other than to absorb losses on loans may rcsult in taxable income for rederal income taxes at the then currcnt tax rate. 

Thc tax cffccts of cxisting temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred lax assets and deferred tax 
liabilities at March 3 I of the years indicated as follows: 

2003 2002 
on thousan&) 

Deferred taxassets 
Incow frcimaffiliatc 
Allowance for loan losses 
Deferred loan fees 
Conpensation and bcnefit plans 

!$ 2,050 $ - 

1,414 1,235 
287 607 
28 1 132 

Reserves for losses on other assets 22 38 
Non-accrual loan interest 
Contributions carryfonvard 

194 
1 95 

Total deferred taxassets before valuation allowance 4,249 2,107 
Valuation allowance 
Total deferred taxassets 

Del’crred tax liabilities 
Unrealmd gain on available-for-salc sccuritics 
Identifiable Intangibles 
Depreciation 

Total deferred tax liabilities 

4,249 2,107 

616 100 
71 168 

283 315 
970 5x3 

Net deferred tax assets $ 3,279 $ 1,524 

Management believes it is more likely than not that the results of futurc operations will generate sufflcient fbture taxable 
income to realize the deferred tax assct. Thcrcforc, a valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets at March 31, 2003 and 2002 
was not considcrcd ncccssary. 
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The following table reconciles the earnings (loss) available to common shareholders (numerator) and the weighted average 
common stock outstanding (denominator) for both basic and diluted earnings per sharc for the periods presented: 

Year Ended March 31, 
2003 2002 2001 

(In thousands) 

I NOTE 11. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUTTY 

Conversion and Stock Oflering. On October 24, 1994, the Bank issued in an initial public offering 2,314,375 sharcs of 
common stock (par value $0.01) at a price of $10 per share resulting in net proceeds of $21.5 million. As part of the initial public 
offering, the Bank established a liquidation account at the time of conversion, in an amount equal to the siirplus and rcscrves of the 
Bank at September 30, 1994. In the unlikely event o f  a complete liquidation of the Bank (and only in such event), eligible depositors 
who continue to maintain accounts shall be entitled to receive a distribution from the liquidation account. The total amount of the 
liquidation account may be decreased if the balances of eligible deposits decreased as measured on the annual determination dates. 
The balance of the liquidation account was approximately $2.1 million (unaudited), and $2.5 million (unaudited) at March 3 1, 2003 
and 2002, respectively, based on an assumed decrease of 15.25% of eligible deposits per annum. On October 17, 1996, the Rank 
completed the Reorganization and became the wholly owned subsidiary ofthe Holding Company. Pursuant to an Agreement and 
Plan of Reorganization, dated May 21, 1996, each share of the Bank’s outstanding common stock was exchanged for one share ofthe 
Holding Company’s common stock. In connection with the Reorganization, a shareholdcr of the Bank exercised appraisal rights and 
100 shares of the Bank’s common stock were purchased from such shareholder in the fourth fiscal quarter of 1997. Accordingly, 
2,314,275 sharcs of the Holding Company’s common stock wcrc outstanding. The Bank is not permitted to pay dividends to the 
Holding Company on its capital stock if the effect thereof would caux  its net worth to be reduced below either: (i) the amount 
required for the liquidation account or (ii) the amount required for the Rank to comply with applicable minimum regulatory capital 
rcquiremcnts. 

Net income (loss) $ 3,831 $ 4,713 $ (389) 
Preferred stock dividends 
Net income (loss) -basic 
Impact of potential conversion of convertible preferred stock to cotnmon 
stock 
Net income (loss) -diluted 

(197) (1 97) (197) 
3,634 4,5 16 (586) 

197 197 197 
$ 3,831 $ 4,713 $ (389) 

Wcighted average common shares outslanding basic 2,291 2,277 2,256 

Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted 2,526 2,495 2,464 
Effect of dilutivc securities convertible preferred stock and options 235 218 208 

Convertible Pwferred Stock. On Sanuary 1 I ,  2000, the liolding Company sold, pursuant to a Securities Purchase 
Agreement, dated January 11, 2000, in a private placement 40,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series A 
Preferred Stock”) to Morgan Stanley & C‘o. Incorporated (“MSDW’) and 60,000 Sharcs of Scrics B Chnvertible Preferred Stock (thc 
“Series B Preferred Stock”) to Provendcr Opportunities Fund L.P. (“Provender”). In addition, Carver entered into a Registration 
Rights Agreement, dated January 11, 2000, with MSDW and Provender. The gross proceeds from the private placement were $2.5 
million. 

The Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock (collectively the “Preferred Stock”) accrue annual dividends at 
$1.97 per share. Dividends are payable semi-annually on June I5 and December 15 of each year. Each share of Preferred Stock is 
convertiblc at the option of the holder, ai any timc, into 2.08333 shares of Carver’s Common Stock, subject to certain antidilution 
adjustments. The Holding Company may redeem thc Preferred Stock beginning January 15, 2004. In the event of any liquidation, 
dissolution or winding up of Carver, whether voluntary or involuntary, the holders of the shares of Preferred Stock shall be entitled to 
receive $25 per share of Preferred Stock plus all dividends accrued and unpaid thereon. Each share of Preferred Stock is entitled to 
one vote for each share of Common Stock into which the Preferred Stock can be converted. 

At March 3 1,  2003 unpaid accrued dividends related to the Preferred Stock amounted to $57,000. 
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Rcgulutory Capital. The operations and profitability of the Bank arc significantly affected by legislation and the policies of 
the various rcgulatory agencies. The Office of Thrift Supervision (“OTS”) has promulgated capital requirements for financial 
institutions consisting of minimum tangible and core capital ratios of 1 .S% and 3.00/, respectively, of thc institution’s adjusted total 
assets and a minimum risk-based capital ratio of 8.0% of the institution’s risk weighted assets. Although the minimum core capital 
ratio is 3.0%,, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act, as amended (“FDICKA”), stipulates that an institution 
with less than 4.0% core capital is dccmcd undercapitalized. At March 31, 2003 and 2002, the Rank exceeded all of its regulatory 
capital rcquirements. 

The following is a summary of the Bank’s actual capital amounts and ratios as of March 31, 2003 and 2002, compared to 
the OTS requirements for minimum capital adequacy and for classification as a well-capitalized institution: 

Minimum Capital Classification as 
Bank Actual Adequacy Well Capitalized 

Amount - Ratio Amount Ratro Amount Ratio 
(Dollars in thousands) 

March 3 1,2003 
Tangible capital !$ 39,725 7.8 ?4 $ 7,628 1.5 Yo N/A NIA 

Risk-bascd capital: 
Leverage capital 39,725 7.8 20,341 4.0 $ 25,426 5.0 96 

Tier 1 39,725 12.8 NIA NIA 18,633 6.0 
Total 43,610 14.0 2 4 , ~  8.0 3 1,055 10.0 

March 3 1, 2002 
Tangible capital $ 36,442 8.1 ”/o $ 6,744 1.5 Yo NIA NIA 

Risk-based capital: 
Leverage capital 36,442 8.1 17,984 4.0 $ 22,480 5.0 ?4 

Tier I 36,442 17.0 NIA N lh  12,865 6.0 
Total 39,140 18.3 17,153 8.0 2 1,442 10.0 

The following table reconciles the Rank’s stockholders’ equity at March 3 1, 2003, in accordance with accounting principles 
gcnerally accepted in the U.S. to regulatory capital requircments I 

Stockholdcrs‘ Equity at March 3 1, 2003 (1) 

Add: 

Deduct: 
General valuation allowances 

Unrealizcd loss(gain) on securities available for sale, net 
Excess of‘ cost over net assets acquircd 

Regulatory Capital 
Minimum Capital requircmciit 
Rcgiilalory Capital Excess 

(1) Reflccts Rank only. 

- Regulatory Capital Requirements 
GAAP Tangible Leverage Risk-Based 
Capital Capital Capital Capital 

(In thousands) 
$ 40,653 %: 40,653 $ 40,653 $ 40,653 

- - 3,885 

(750) (750) (750) 
(1 78) (178) (178) 

39,725 39,725 43,610 
7,628 20,341 24,844 

S 32.097 $ 19.384 $ 18.766 

Comprehensive Income. Cotnprchcnsivc income represents nct income and certain lunounts reported directly in 
stockholders’ equity, such as the net unrealized gain or loss on securities availablc for sale. The Holding Company has reported its 
coinprehensive income for fiscal 2003, 2002 and 2001 in the consolidated statements of changes in stockholdcrs’ equity and 
comprchensive income. Caner’s other comprehensive incomc or loss (other than net income), which is attributablc to unrealized 
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gains and losses on securities availablc-for-sale, for the year ended March 3 1, 2003 and 2002 was $750,000 and $1 16,000, 
respectivcly. lncludcd in the March 3 I ,  2003 amount i s  $4154,000 relating to an unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities that 
were transferred during fiscal 2003 to held-to-maturity. This unrealized gain is an unrealized gain reported as a separate component 
of stockholders’ cquity and is amortized over the remaining lives of the securities as an adjustment to yield. Thcrc was no other 
comprehensive income or loss for the year ended March 3 1,2001. 

NOTE 12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT AND STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS 

Pcn.vinn Plun. Carver has a non-contributory defined bcncfit pcnsion plan covering all eligible employees. The benefits are based on 
each employee’s term of service. Carver’s policy i s  to fund the plan with contributions which equal the maximum amount deductible 
for federal income tax purposes. The plan was curtailed during the fiscal ycar endcd March 3 I ,  2002. 

The following table sets forth the plan’s changcs in bcncfit obligation, changes in plan assets and funded status and amounts 
recognized in Carver’s consolidated financial statcmcnts at March 3 I 

2003 2002 
(In thousands) 

Change in projected benefit obligation during the ycar 
Projected benefit obligation at the beginning of year 
Interest cost 
Actuarial loss 
Benefits paid 
Projected benefit obligation at end of year 

Change in lair valuc of plan assets during the year 

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of ycar 
Actual return on plan assets 
Bcncfits paid 
Fair value of plan asscts at cnd o f  year 

Funded status 
Unrecognized (gain) / loss 
Accrued pension cost 

$ 2,623 $ 2,527 
178 182 
182 I54 

(231) (240) 
$ 2,752 $ 2,623 

$ 3,369 $ 3,594 
(23 1) 15 
(23 I)  (240) 

$ 2,907 $ 3,369 

$ 155 $ 746 
93 (600) 

$ 248 $ 146 

Net periodic pension benefit included the following components for the years ended March 3 1 are: 

2003 2002 2001 
(In thousands) 

Service cost $ - $  - $ 121 
lnterest cost 178 182 207 
Expected return on plan assets (260) (279) (298) 
Amortization of 

Unrecognized gain (19) (56)  (96) 
Unrecognized past service liability - 

Unrccognizod transition obligation - 36 

2 - 

Curtailment credit 
Net periodic pension benefit 
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Significant actuarial assumptions used in determining plan benefits for the years ended March 3 1 are: 

2003 2002 2001 
Annual salary increase ( 1 ) NlA NIA 4.15% 
Long-term return on assets 8.00% R.00YO 8.00% 
Discount rate used in measurement of bcncfit 
obligations 6.50% 7,00yo 7.2s”” 

( I )  The annual salary incrcasc rate is not applicable as the plan 15 froyen 

Savings Immt ive  Plrxn. Carver has a savings incentive plan, pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Code, for all cligible 
employees of the Bank. Through December 31, 2000, cinployccs hiid the option to clcct to (Mer up to the Iesscr of 15% or the 
maximum amount allowed under law of their coinpensation arid receive a 50% matching contribution from Carver up to the 
maximuin allowed by law. Effective January 1, 2001, tlie plan was modified. In connection with this modification, Carver will make 
an annual non-elective contribution to the 401(k) plan on behalf of each eligible einployec equal to 2% of tlie etnployee’s annual pay, 
subject to IRS limitations. This 2% Carver contribution will be made regardless of whether or 1101 the employee makcs a contribution 
to the 401(k) plan. To be eligible for the 2% Carver conlribution, the etnploycc must liave coinpleted at least one ycar of service and 
be employed as of the last day of the plan year or December 3 1 of each year. Tn addition, effcctivc January I ,  2001, Carver matches 
contributions to the plan equal to 100% or the pre-tax contributions made by each eniployee up to a inaxiiiiuni of‘4% oftheir pay. A11 
such matching contributions to thc plaii will be fully vested and non-forfeilable at all times regardless of the years of scrvicc. 
However, the one-year to five-ycar vesting schedule that previously applied to matching contributions will apply to the new 2% 
Carver contribution. Total incentive plaii expenses for thc ycars ended March 3 I ,  2003, 2002 and 2001 were $127,000, $60,000 and 
$45,000, respectively. 

L)iwc.tors ’ Rcliwmwt Plm.  Concumnt with the conversion to thc stock forin of owncrship, Carver adopted a retireincnt 
plan for noli-employec directors. The plan was curtailed during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2001. The benetits arc payable based 
on the terrn of scrvicc as a director. The following tablc sets forth the plan’s changes in bcncfit obligation, changes in plan assets and 
funded status and amounts recognized in Chrver’s consolidalcd linancial statements at March 3 I : 

~~~ 

2003 2002 
(Tn thousands) 

Change i n  projected bcncfit obligation during the ycar 
Projected benefit obligation at bcgiiiniiig of year 
Intcrest cost 
Actuarial (gain) / loss 
Benefits paid 

f’rojcctod bcncfit obligation at end of ycar 

Change in fair valuc ol’plan assets during the year 
Employer contributions 
Benefits paid 
Fair valuc ofplaii assets at end of ycar 

Funded Status 
Contributions 
Unrccognized (gain) / loss 
Accrued pension cost 

$ 264 
17 

( 3 8 )  
(43) 

$ 200 

$ 43 
(43) 

Y; 

$ (200) 
- 

(17) 
$ (217) 

!$ 296 
19 

(51) 
$ 264 

$ 51 
(51) 

$ 

$ (264) 

- 

- 

21 
$ (243) 
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Net periodic pension cost for the years ended March 3 1,2003,2002 and 2001 included the following: 

Service cost 
Intercst cost 
Expected return on plan assets 
Amortization of: 

Unrecognized gain 
Unrecognized past service liability 
Curtailment credit 

Nct pcriodic pension cost 

2003 2002 
(In thousands) 

$ 
17 19 

- !$ 

- - 

$ 17 $ 19 

2001 

- !$ 
35 
- 

4 
23 

(1 79) 
$ (117) 

The actuarial assumptions used in determining plan benefits iiicludc a discount rate of 6.5%, 7.25% and 7.25% for the 
years ended March 3 1,2003,2002 and 2001, respcctivcly. 

Mnncrgevnrnt Recognition P l m .  The MKP provides for autoimatic grants of restricted stock to certain employees as of thc 
September 12, 1995 adoption of the MRP. In addition, the MRP provides for additional discretionary grants of restricted stock lo 
those employees selectcd by the committee establishcd to administer the MRP. Awards generally vest in three to five equal annual 
installtnents commencing on the tirst anniversary date of the award, provided the recipient is still an employee of the Holding 
Company or the Bank on such date. Awards will bccomc 100% vested upon termination of scrvicc due to death or disability. When 
shares become vested and arc distributed, the recipients will receive an amount equal to any accrued diviclcnds with respect thereto 
Pursuant to the MRP, the Rank recognizcd $79,000, $ 1  19,000 and $0 as cxpcnsc for the years ended March 3 1, 2003,2002 and 200 1, 
respectively. 

Emplovw Stock Ownership Plun Effective upon conversion, an ESOP was established for all eligible employees. The ESOP 
used $1,821,320 in proceeds from a term loan obtained from a third-party institution to piirchase 182,132 slyarcs of Bank common 
stock in the initial public offering. Thc term loan principal is payable over forty equal quarterly installments through Scptcmber 2004. 
Tnlerest on the term loan is payable quarteily, at a rate of 3.00% over the average federal funds rate. On May 20, 2002, the tenn loan 
waq modiikd to provide for interest at a fixed rate of 4% per annum. Each year, the Bank intends to make discretionary contributions 
to the ESOP, which will be equal to principal and interest payments required on the tenn loan lcss any dividends received by the 
ESOP on unallocaled shares. 

Share? purchased with thc loan proceeds were initially plcdgcd as collateral for the temi loan and arc held in a suspense 
account for future allocation ainong the participants on the basis of compensation, a s  described by the Plan, in the year of allocation. 

Accordingly, the ESOP shares pledged as collateral are reported as unearned ESOP shares in the consolidated statements of 
tinancial condition. As shares are conitiiitted to be rclcascd from collateral, the Rank reports cornpcnsation expense equal to thc 
currcnt market price or the shares, and the shares becoinc outstanding for net income per corniiioii share computations. ESOP 
compcnsation expense was $172,000, $174,000 and $298,000 for the y c m  ciidcd March 31, 2003,2002 aiid 2001, respectively. 

The ESOP shares at March 3 1 are as follows: 

2003 2002 
(In thousands) 

Allocated shares 163 149 
Unreleased shares I9 33 
Total ESOP shares 182 182 

Fair value of unreleased shares $26 I $374 
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Stock Option Plm. During 1995, the Holding Conipany adopted thc 1995 Stock Option Plan (the “Plim”) to advance the 
intcrcsts of the Bank through providing select key employees and directors of the Bank and its affiliates. The number of shares 
reserved for issuance under tlie plan is 338,862. At March 31, 2003, there werc 192,176 options outstanding and 106,020 were 
exercisable. Options arc granted at the fair market value of Carvcr common stock at thc time o f  the grant for a period not to exceed 
ten years. Under the Plan, as amended, option grants gcncrally vest on an rlnnual basis ratably ovcr either three or five years, 
commencing after one year of scrvice. Tn some instances, portions of option grants vest at the time of the grant. All options are 
cxcrcisable imtnediately upon a participant’s disability, death or a changc in control, as dcfincd in the Plan. 

Information regarding stock options as of and for the ycars ended March 3 1 follows: 

2003 2002 2001 
Wcighted Weighted Weighted 
Average Average Average 
Exercise Exercise Exercisc 

Outstanding, beginning of ycar 134,767 $ 9.10 112,963 $ 9.17 58,463 $ 9.57 
Granted 65,142 12.05 59,767 9.86 56,000 8.94 
Exercised (333) 9.93 (2,5W 6.75 
Forfcited (7,400) 10.14 (35,463) 10.61 (1,500) 16.13 
Outstanding, end ofyear 192,176 $ 10.07 134,767 $ 9.10 112,963 $ 9.17 

Options Price Options Price Options Price 

- - 

Excrcisable at year end 106,020 - 65,600 - 89,663 - 

The following table summariLes information about stock options at March 31,2003: 

3 Options Exercisable 
Weighted Weighted Weighted 
Average Average Average 

Range of Remaining Excrcise Exercise 
Exercise Prices Shares Life Price Shares Price 

$ 8.00 $ 8.99 68,000 7 years $ 8.24 59,000 $ 8.20 
9.00 9.99 48,767 8 years 9.83 27,020 9.85 

10.00 10.99 10,000 8 years 10.49 4,000 10.48 

12.00 12.99 61,909 9 years 12.08 15,000 12.06 
-. - 11.00 11.99 2,500 10 years 11.28 

13.00 13.99 1,000 5 ycars 13.81 1,000 13.81 
Total 192, I76 106,020 

NOTE 13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

The Rank is a party to financial instruments with off-balance shcct risk in the normal course o f  business to mcct the 
financing needs of its customers. 

These financial instruments primarily includc commitments to extend credit and to sell loans. Those instruments involve, to 
varying dcgrees, elements of crcdit and interest rate risk in excess of the amount rccognized in the statcments of financial condition. 
Thc contract amounts of those instruments reflect thc extent of involvcmcnt the Bank has in particular classes of financial 
instruments. 

The Hank’s exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other party to thc financial instrument for 
commitments to extend crcdit is represented by thc contractual notional amount of those instruments. The Rank uses thc same credit 
policies making oomniitments as it does for on-balance-sheet instruments. 
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The Rank has outstanding various loan commitments as follows: 

March 3 1, 
2003 2002 

(In thousands) 

Commitimcn ts to originate mortgage loam $ 10,643 $ 14,723 
Consumer loans 

Total 
2,464 2,877 

$ 13,107 $ 17,400 

At March 31, 2003, of the $1 0.6 million in outstanding commitments to originatc mortgage loans, $2.1 million represented 
commitments to originate non-rcsidcntial mortgage loans at fixed rates within ii range of’6.75% to 7.250/, $ I .7 inillion represented the 
balance of  all othcr real estate loans at fixed rates between 4.7SX to 7.00% and $6.8 million reprcscntcd construction loans at an 
average rate of 5.96%. 

At March 3 I ,  2003, uiidisbursed run& from approved consuiner lines of credit, priinarily credit cards, totaled $2.S million. 
Such lines consist of imsecurcd and secured lines of credit of $2.2 million and $242,000 rcspcctively. All such lines carry adjustable 
rates. At March 3 I ,  2003, tindisbursed funds from approved iii1securcd commercial lines of credit totaled $45,000. At March 3 1, 
2003, the Bank maintains one lctter of credit in the amount of‘$1.9 million. 

Clommitinents to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as therc is no violation or any condition 
established in the contract. C:oinmitmcnts generally havc fixed expiration dates or othcr termination clauses and may require payment 
of ii fee. Since some of the commitments arc cxpected to expire without being drawn upon, the total coininitincnt amounts do not 
necessarily represent future cash requireinents. l‘hc Bank evaluates ciich custonier’s creditworthiness on a case-by-case basis. Thc 
arnount of collateral obtained if deciried necessary by the Bank upon extension of credit is based on management’s credit evaluation 
of the countor-party. 

Collateral held consists primarily of residential real estate, but may include income-producing commercial properties. 

Rentals, including real estate taxes, under long-term operating leases for certain branch offices aggregated approximatcly 
$186,000, $142,000, and $191,000 for the years ended March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. As of March 31, 2003, 
ininiinuin rental comimitinents under all noncanccllable leases with initial or remaining tcnns of more than one year and expiring 
through 2012 itre as follows: 

Year Ending 
March 31, 

2004 
2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 

Thereailcr 

Minimum 
Rental 

(In Thousands) 
21 8 
222 
227 
144 
131 
499 

1.441 

The Bank also has, iii the rionnal course of business, commitments [or services and supplies. 
anticiprttc losses on any of these transactions. 

Management does not 

Legal Proceedings. From time to time, Carver Federal i s  a party to various legal proceedings incident to its business. 
Certain claims, suits, coinplaints and investigations involving Chrvcr Ikderal, arising in the ordinary course of business, have bccn 
filed or are pending. The Company is of the opinion, after discussion with lcgal counsel rcprcscnting the Rank in thcse proceedings, 
that the aggregate liability or loss, i f  any, arising from the ultimate disposition of these matters would not have a niaterial adverse 
effect on the Company’s consolidated tinancial position or results of operations. At March 3 1, 2003, except as set forth below, there 
were no material legal proceedings to which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party or to which any of their property wils 
subject. 
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On or about April 29, 1999, plaiiititYReginald St. Rose (“St. Rose”) filed suit against Carver Fcdci-al in [lie Suprernc Coiirt 
of the State of New York, County of  New York (tho “St. Rose Action”). St. Rose is a fonncr Carver Pcdcral employee. On or about 
Ianuary 12, 1999, Chivcr Federal and St. Rose entered into an agreement (the “Agreement”) providing that St. Rose would resign 
from Carver Federal on the ternis and conditions set forth in the Agreement. In the St. Rose Action, St. Rose allcgcd the following 
causes of action, which relate to the Agreement and St. Rose’s separation from Carver Federal: (1) breach of contract; (2) promissory 
estoppel; and ( 3 )  fraudulent misrepresentation. St. Rose sccks damages in  an ninount not less than $SO,OOO with respect to the breach 
of contract cause of action and seeks undisclosed damages with respect to the promissory estoppel and fraudulent misrepresentation 
causes of action. 

On or about August 18, 1999, Carver Fcdcral inoved to dismiss St. Rose’s fraudulent i~iisrcprcsciitalioii cause of action. Ry 
decision dated November 23, 1999, the Court granted Carvcr Federal’s motion to dismiss and entered an order embodying that 
decision on .January 26, 2000. Chrvcr Federal has riot filed an answer in thc St. Rose Action. Uy written stipulation of the partics, 
Carver Federal’s tinie to tile an iinswer to St. Rose’s complaint has been extended without date. Carvcr Fctleral has unasscrled 
counterclaims against St. Rose for, among other claims, payment of certain titiancial obligations to Carver Federal (including, but riot 
limited to, autornobilc loans, unsecured lonns, lines of credit and credit card debts), which obligations remain outstanding as of the 
date ofthis Forin 10-K. Since .January 2000, tlie St. Rosc Action has bccn lurgely inactive. The parties have had iiitermittcnt 
scttleinent discussions but have not reached an agreement. If the parties do not reach a settlement, Carver Federal intends to continue 
to defend this Action vigorously. 

Carver Federal is also a defendant in an action brought by Kdph Williams (the “Williarns Action”) aiid an action brought by 
Janice Pressley (thc “Pressley Action” and, together with the Williains Action, the “Actions”) both of which nrisc oui or events 
concerning the Northeactern Conference Federal Credit Unicm (“NortlicastcrIi”). Plaintiff Williams is a former member of the Board 
of Dircctors or Northeastern and plaintiff Presslcy is a former treasurer of Northeastern. 

Northeastern was a federal credit union and it maintained accoiints with Carver Federal and with other banks in the New 
York inetropolitan iircii. Plaintiffs’ complaints (which are virtually identical) allcge that the National Credit IJnion Administration 
(the “NCUA”) actcd improperly when it plitccd Northeastern into conservatorship and subsequent liquitlation. On or about November 
22, 2000, Williams filed his prw .sc complaint in the United States District Court, District of C.’olumbia against thc NCUA, Carver 
Federal, JPMorgan C’hasc (foimcrly Chase Manhattan Rank) (“Chasc”), Astoria Fedcral Savings aiid Loan Association and Kcliarice 
Federal Savings Bank (Carver Federal with the last three defendants, collectively the “Rank Defcndants”) seeking damages in tlie 
mwunt  of $ 1  million plus certain additional imspecitkd amounts. Oti or about November 22, 2000, plaintiff Pressley filed her pro  se 
action in the United States District Court, District of C:oliinibia against the sanie defendants seeking unspccificci compensatory and 
punitive dainages. Williams seeks damages for tlie allegcdly “unauthorized” or “invalid“ actions of the NCIJA Board in taking 
control of Northeastern as well as damages Tor discrimination and civil rights violations. Pressley seeks dainagcs based on identical 
allegations cxccpt that she also allcgcs certain claims of cmployment discrimination. While the bulk of both complainls relate to the 
action of the NCUA Roard of Directors, the plaintiffs iidvance two allcgations against thc Hank Defendants, including Carver Icdcral. 
First, plnintiffs allege that the Bank Defendants “collaborated with the NClJA Board of Directors” in violating unspccilied 
coristihitional and privacy rights. Second, plaintiffs allcge that the Bank Dcfendants engaged in discrimination. 

On 01- about Decembcr 15, 2000, defendant Chasc inoved to consolidate the Actions. Ti1 anticipation of that consolidation, 
tlie Bank Dcfcndants tiled a joint motion to dismiss both coinplaints arguing that both Actions are barred by principles of res jzdiiwta 
and both complaints fail to state clainis on which relief can bc granted. The Bank Defendants’ motion to disiiiiss was denied without 
pi-ejudice insofar iis i t  applied to the Williams Action solely fui- the reason that it was a motion addressed to both Actions prior to the 
issuance of an order consolidating these cases. l‘he Rank Defcndants have retiled thcii- motion to dismiss the Wil l iam Action and it 
is s/,O>judiw. If the motion to dismiss is not granted, Carver Icclci-al intends to defend the Williams Action vigorously. On 
September 20, 2001, the C . h i r t  grented the Rank Dcfcndants’ motion to dismiss the Pressley Action. Prcsslcy has appealed the 
dismissal. Carver Federal is vigorously opposing the appeal. 

On 01- about December 28, 2000, plaintiff l‘hoinas L. Clark (“Clark”) tiled suit against Carver 1;cdct-al arid individual 
defendants in (lie Suprerric Cuuit of tlie State of Ncw York, County of New York. (.!lark is the fonner Prcsidcnl and Chief Bxoculive 
Officer or r a w e r  Fedcritl. Clark claimed that thc defeiidants should be forced to obtain approval from the OTS to pay severance 
benelits that Clark believes C::arver Federal owes hiin under an einployment agrceinent. Carvcr Federal sought injunctive relief and 
assert claims fur hreach of contract, equitable estoppel and estoppel by contract. On or about March 30, 2001, Carver Federal and the 
individual defendants moved to dismiss the complaint in its cntircty based on documentary evidence and for failure to stiitc ii ~iiitse of 
i-lction, By Dccision and Order cntcrcd Noveinher 27, 2001, the Cnurt granted that iiiotion to the extent of dismissing the first CBUSC 

of action for breach of‘ contract agninst all of the individual defendant and dismissing the second cause of action based on estoppel 
theories as against all the dcfcndants. Carver Fedcral iippealed the Decision and Order insofiii- as it did not dismiss tlie coinplaint in 
its entirety. On Septernbcr 26, 2002, the Appellate Division of the Supreme C:ourt reversed the lower court arid granted Carver 
Federals motion in its entirety. Clark did not appcal that decision and his time to do so has expired. 

On or about November 2001, Moniquc Harrow tiled an action against Carver Federal in thc United States District Court 
for the Southern District of New York alleging that Carver Federal’s tcimination of her cniploynient constituted a violation of thc 
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fcderal Family and Medical Leave Act, 29 U.S.C. 6 2601, rt  wy., the New York State Huriian Rights Law, N.Y, Executive 8236 c/ 
SPCJ., and the New York City Human Rights Law, N.Y.C. Administrative Codc 6 8-101 et s q .  Ms. Barrow seeks back pay, fi-oiit pay 
and bcncfits with interest in an amount not less than $5 million, and punitive, liquidated and other compensatory damages in an 
ainoiint not less than $ 1  0 million, Carver Federal has answered the complaint denying any liability. C’arver Federal obtained an order 
providing for expedited discovery on liability issues. C‘arvcr Federal has conipleted its discovery and has requested perniission to 
make ii motion for sumninry judgment. Carvcr 1;cdcral intcnds to makc that motion as soon as pelmission is received. 

NOTE 14. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The fair value of a financial instrument is delined as the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current 
transaction between willing parties, other than a forced or liquidation sale. Signiticant estimations were used by the Bank for the 
purpose of this disclosure. Estimated fair values have been determined by the Bank using the best available data and estimation 
methodology suitable for each category of fiiiancial instrument. For those loans and dcposits with floating intcrcst rates, it is 
presuined that estimated fair values generally approxiniate their recorded book balances. The estimation methodologies used and the 
estimated fair values and carrying values of the Rank’s tinancial instrunients are set forth below: 

Cash and cash equivalents and accrued intcrcst rcccivahlc 

The canying amounts for cash and cash equivalents and accrued interest receivable approximate fair value because they 
maturc in three months or less. 

Securities 

The fair values for securities available-for-sale, mortgage-backed securities held-tomaturity and investment securities held- 
to-maturity are based on quoted inarket or dealer prices, if available. If quoted market or dealer prices are not available, fair value is 
estimated using quoted market or dealer prices for similar securities. 

Loans receivahlc 

The fair value of loans receivable is estimated by discounting future cash flows, using current rates at which similar loans 
would be made to borrowers with similar credit ratings and for the same remaining riiaturities of such loans. 

The fair value of‘ demand, savings and club accounts is equal to the iimount payable on demand at the reporting date. ‘Ihe 
fair value of certificates of deposit is estimated using rates currcntly offercd f w  deposits of similar remaining maturities. ‘Ihe fair 
value estimates do not include the benefit that results from the low-cost f h l i n g  provided by deposit liabilities compared to the cost of 
borrowing funds in the market. 

Bvrrvwings 

?‘he fair values of advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank o f  New York, securities sold under agreement to repurchase 
arid other borrowed rnoney are estimated using thc rates cun-cntly available to the k ink  for debt with similar tcinis and remaining 
maturities. 

Cvmmitments 

Thc fair market value of unearned fccs associated with financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk at March 3 I ,  2003 
approximates the fees received. The h r  value is not considered niittcriiil. 
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The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the Bank’s financial instruments at March 3 I, 2003 and 2002 are as 
follows: 

At March 31. 
2003 2002 

Carrying 
Amount 

Estimated Carrying 
Fair Value Amount 

(In thousands) 

Estimated 
Fair Value 

$ 23,160 
$ 38,187 
$ 36,530 
$ 89,966 
$ 292,738 
$ 3,346 

$ 347,164 
$ 108,789 
$ 207 

$ 23,160 $ 34,851 
$ 38,772 $ 39,663 
$ 37,543 $ 15,643 
$ 90,283 $ 49,942 
!$ 316,073 $ 289,114 
$ 3,346 $ 2,804 

$ 349,317 $ 324,954 
$ 112,443 $ 75,262 
$ 215 $ 389 

$ 34,851 
$ 39,401 
$ 15,716 
$ 50,420 
$ 300,251 
$ 2,804 

$ 324,982 

$ 384 
$ 74,375 

Fiiiancial Asscts: 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Tiivcstmcnl sccuritics availablc-for-salc 
Mortgagc backed securities held-to-maturity 
Mortgage backed securities available-for-sale 
Loans receivable 
hccrucd interest receivable 

Financial Liabilitics: 
Deposits 
Advances from FHLB of New Y ork 
Othcr borrowed money 

Limitations 

The fair value estimates arc made at a discrete point in time bascd on relevant market inrorrnation about the financial 
instruments. These estimates do not reflect any premium or discount that could result from offering for sale at one time the entire 
holdings of n particular financial instrument. Because no quoted market value exists for a significant portion of the Bank’s financial 
instruments, fair value estimatcs are based on judgments rcgarding future expected loss experience, current economic conditions, risk 
charactcristics of various financial instmmcnts, and other factors. These estimates iirc subjcctive in nature and involve irncertainties 
and matters of significant judgment and, therefore, cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assuiiiptioiis could significantly 
affect the estimates. 

In addition, the fair value estimates arc bascd on existing off balance shcct financial inslruiiients without attempting to value 
anticipated future business and the value or assets and liabilities that are not considered financial instruments. Other significant assets 
arid liabilities that are not considered finaticial assets and liabilities include premises and equipment and advances from borrowers for 
taxes and insurance. In addition, the tax ramifications related to the realization of unrealized gains and losses can have a significant 
effect on fair value estimates and have not been considered in  any o f  the estimates. 

Finally, reasonable coiiiparability between financial institutions may not be likely due to the wide range of permitted 
valuation techniques and numerous estimates which must be tnade given the absence of active secondary markets for nirtlly of the 
t-inancial instmnicnts. This lack of uniform valuation mcthodologics introduces a greater dcgrcc of subjcctivity to these estimated [air 
values. 



NOTE 15. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED) 

Thc following is a summary o f  unauditcd quarterly financial data for the fiscal ycars cnded March 3 1,2003 and 2002: 

Three Months Ended 
June 30 September 30 December 31 March 31 

(In thousands, except per share data) 
Fiscal 2003 
Intcrcst income 
Interest expense 

Net interest income 
Provision for loan losses 
Non-interest incomc 
Non-interest expensc 
Income tax expense 

Earnings per common share 
Net income 

Basic 
Diluted 

Fiscal 2002 
Interest income 
Interest expense 

Not interest income 
Provision for loan losses 
Non-interest income 
Non-interest expense 
Incomc tax expense 

Earnings per common share 
Net income 

Basic 
Diluted 

$ 6,730 
(2,338) 
4,392 

952 
(3,755) 

(714) 
$ 875 

$ 6,746 
(2,210) 
4,536 

(797) 
%: 93 5 

0.36 
0.35 

$ 7,049 
(3,387) 
3,662 
(225)  

1,420 
(3,419) 

(273) 
$ 1,165 

0.49 
0.47 

0.39 
0.37 

$ 7,024 
(3,233) 
3,791 
(225) 
476 

(3,438) 
(1 15) 

$ 489 

0.19 
0.19 

$ 6,777 
(2,219) 
4,558 

75 I 
(3,555) 

(807) 
$ 947 

0.39 
0.38 

$ 7,162 
(2,959) 
4,203 

1,976 
(3,836) 

(225) 

(402) 
$ 1,716 

0.73 
0.69 

$ 7,125 
(2,2 IC,) 
4,909 

742 

(715) 
(3,8621 

$ 1,074 

0.45 
0.42 

$ 7,020 
(2,469) 
4 3 5  1 
(225)  
613 

(3,505) 
(91) 

$ 1.343 

0.57 
0.53 
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NOTE 16. CARVEK SANCORP, INC. (PARENT COMPANY ONLY) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 

AS OF MARCH 31, 
2003 2002 
(Dollars in thousands) 

ASSETS 
Cash on deposit with the Rank 
Trivestment in the Bank 
lotal assets 

LlhUlLITIES 
Accounts payable to the Bank 
Other liabilities 
Total liabilitics 

Stockholders’ equity 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity 

$ x7 $ 439 
4 1,055 37,567 

!$ 41,142 % 38,006 

!$ 1 $ 14 
68 1,250 
69 1,264 

4 1,073 36,742 
$ 41,142 $ 38,006 

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

YEAR ENDED MARCH31. 

INCOME 
Equity in net income from the Rank 
Tnterest income froin deposit with the Bank 
Total incomc 

EXPENSES 
Salaries and employcc benefits 
Legal expcnsc 
Sharcholder expense 
Other 
Total cxpcnse 

Income (loss) before income taxes 
Jncome tax cxpcnse 
Net income (loss) 

2003 2002 2001 
(Dollars in thousands) 

$ 7,320 $ 6,247 $ 624 
6 33 48 

7,326 6,280 672 

52 82 64 
102 236 233 
248 296 510 
60 72 156 

462 686 963 

6,864 5,594 (291) 
3,033 881 98 

$ 3,831 $ 4,713 $ (389) 



CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Nct incotlie (loss) 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash 
provided by (used in) operating activities: 
Equity in net (income) of the Bank 
lncome taxes from the Bank 
Dccrease in accounts receivable 
Dccrcase in promissory note receivable 
(Dccrcase) increase in accounts payable to Bank 
(Decrease) increase in other liabilities 
Allocation of ESOP Stock and MRP activity 
Other, net 
Nct cash provided by (used in )  operating activities 

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 
2003 2002 2001 ~ 

(Dollars in thousands) 

$ 3,831 

(7,320) 
3,033 

(13) 
(1,182) 

1,664 
13 

CASH FLOWS FROM WVESTINC; ACTTVT'I'IES 
Proceeds from the disposition of Alharnhra Building 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Purchase of treasury stock, net 
Dividends paid 
Nct cash used rn financing activrties 
Net (dccrcase) increase in cash 

Cash and cash equivalents - begiiining 
Cash and cash eyuivalcnts - ending 

( 5 2 )  
(3 13) 
(365) 
(352)  

439 
$ 87 
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NOTE 17. KECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

GUARANTOR’S ACCOUNTING AND DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS FOR GUARANTEES, INCLUDING INDIRECT 
GUARANTEES OF INDEBTNESS OF OTHERS 

I 
In November 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Interpretation No. 45, “Gim-antor ’,s 

Accourrting und Disc/osidrr Requirements Jor Guurantws, Indzrdiflg Indirwt G i ~ u r u n t e ~  UJ Indchtness OJ Others ” (“FIN 45’7, which 
addresses the disclosure to be made by a guarantor in its interim and annual financial statements about its obligations under 
guarantees. FIN 45 also requires the recognition of a liability by a guarantor at the inception of certain guarantees. 

FIN 45 requires the guarantor to recognize a liability for the non-contingent component of the guarantee; this is the 
obligation to stand ready to perform in the event that specified triggering events or conditions occur. The initial measurement of this 
liability is the fair value of the guarantee at inception. The recognition of the liability is required cvcn i i  it i s  not probable that 
payments will be required under the guarantee or if thc guarantee was issued with a premium payment or as part of a transaction with 
multiple elements. 

The Company will adopt the disclosure requircinents of FIN 45 and will apply the recognition and measurcmcnt provisions 
for all guarantees entered into or modified after March 31, 2003. As of March 3 1, 2003 the Company maintains one letter of credit in 
the amount of $1.0 million and therefore management docs not anticipate that the adoption o f  this interpretation will have a 
signiticant crrect on the Company’s earnings or financial position. 

ACCOUNTING FOR THE IMPAIRMENT OR DISPOSAL OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS 

In October 2001, the FASB issued Statement No. 144 (SFAS No. 144), “Accuu~ling.for the Iwpuirmmt or Disposd ef 
Lorig-Lived Assets. ” SFAS No. 144 addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets. 
SFAS No. 144 supersedes SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of1,ong-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Re 
Disposed Of,’’ and the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion No. 30, “Keporting the Kesults of Operations - 
Reporting the Effects o f  Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and 
‘Transactions”, fur the disposal of a segment of a business (as previously defined in that Opinion). This statement also ainends 
Accounting Kcsearch Bulletin No. 5 1 ,  “Consolidated Financial Statements,” to eliminate the exception to consolidation for a 
subsidiary for which control is likely to be temporary. 

I 

SFAS No. 144 improves financial reporting by requiring that one accounting model be used for long-lived assets to be 
disposed of by sale, whether prcviously held md used or newly acquired, and by broadening the presentation of discontinued 
operations to include more disposal transactions. Carver Federal adopted SFAS No. I44 oil January 1, 2002. The adoption of SFAS 
No. 144 was not niatcrial to Carver Federal’s tinancial condition or results of operations. 

ACCOUNTING FOR COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH EXIT OR DISPOSAL ACTIVITIES 

Tn June 2002, the FASI? issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting /iir Costs Associalcu’ with Exit mr Disposal Activitiix “ The 
Stateinent requires cornpanics to recognize costs associated with exit or disposal activities when they are incurred rather than at the 
date of a coinimittnent to an exit or disposal plan. Examplcs ol-‘ costs covered by this standard include lease termination costs and 
certain employee sevcrrtnce costs that arc: associated with a restructuring, discontinued operation, plant closing or other exit or 
disposal activity. Previous accounting guidance was provided by Erncrging Issues Task Force (”EITF”) Jssue No. 94-3, “Liability 
Rccognition for Certain Employee ‘lcnnination Benefits and Othcr Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a 
Kcstructuring).” SFAS No. 146 replaces EITI: Issue No. 94-3. SFAS No. 146 is 10 be applied prospectivcly to exit or disposal 
activities initiated after December 3 1 .  2002. 

ACCOUNTING FOR STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION - 1‘KANSITION AND DISCLOSURE 

In 1)eceiiiher 2002, the FASB issued Statement No.  148 (SFAS No. 148), “Accornnting/iir Stock-Bused Chmpmsation - 
Transilkin rxndDistiosirre ’‘ 
compensation”. SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No.123, to provide alternative methods oftransition for a voluntary change to the fair 
value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, SFAS No. 148 amends the disclosure 
requirenicnts of‘ SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim fiiiaiicial statements about the method of 
accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effcct of the method used on repoitcd results. 

an amendment of FASR Statement No. I23 (SFAS No. I23), “Accounting for Stock-Based 

I 

SFAS No. 148 requires disclosure of comparable information for all companies regardless of whether, when, or how ai1 
entity adopts the fair value based method of accounting. This stateinent improves the prominence and claiity of the pro fomia 
disclosures required by %:AS No. I23 by prescribing a specific tabular foniiat and by requiring disclosure in the “Summary of 
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Significant Accounting Policies” or its equivalent. In addition, this statement improves thc timeliness of those disclosures by requiring 
their inclusion in linancial reports for intcrim periods. 

The annual disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148 arc cffective for h a 1  years ending aftcr December 15, 2002, with 
earlier application perniitkd in certain circumstiinces. The interim disclosure provisions are effwtivc for financial reports coiitaining 
financial statements for interim periods beginning iifter December IS, 2002, Carver Federal adopted the annual disclosurc provisions 
of SFAS No. 148 on December 31,2002. Prior year disclosures have been ainentlcd in the accoiiipailying financial slatcmcnt 
footnotes to confirm with thc new disclosure requirements. 

ACCOUNTING FOR CERTAIN FlNhNCIAX, INSTRUMEN‘I’S WITH CXAKACTERISTTCS OF BOTH IJABlLlTIES ’ ANDEQUITY 

I On May IS, 2003 the FASB issued Statement No. 1 SO, “ A c r o i m t i r i ~ , f ~ r .  Ckrlr~in Firtanrial Instrirmcn1.v with Charr~lcri.stir~s 
qfBoth Liubilitips mu’ Eqzrily ”. Thc statement requires issuers to classify as liabililics (or assets in some circumstances) thrce classes 

I of freestanding financial instrirments that embody obligations for the issuer. 

Ciencrally, the stateinent is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 3 1, 2003 and is otherwise 
erfcctivc at the beginning of the first intcrim period beginning after June 15, 2003. Carver Fcderal will adopt the provisions of the 
statement on July I ,  2003. 
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Board at' nirectors 

Frederick 0. Tcrrell 
Chnirman, C awer Buricorp, Inc 
Mrmaging Partner arid 
Chief Exerufivr OJicer 
Pro vmdw Cupztul Group, L L C' 

Deborah c'. Wright 
Prerident and Chkf  Executrix> @flk;c~r 
C7irrver Banrorp, Inc. 

Carol Baldwin Moody 
Munagmg Director 
Y'C'W/Latoi America Purtnwv, L.L C 

David L. Hinds 
Former Managing Director 
Deulsche Bunk 

Pazel G. Jackson, Jr. 
Former Smior V i w  Acrideni 
Chase Manhaltan Bunk 

Edward B. Kuggicro 
Vice l'rL,,vidt:nt, Corpomte Finance 
A O L  Time Warner 

Strauss Zelnick 
Founder 
Zelnick M d i u  L I Z  

Executive Offiicthrs 

Catherine A. Papayiannis 
Exwinfive Vice Pre.sidtw/ and 
Chiqf Operating QJker 

J a m s  Bason 
Serriw Vice Presidmt arid 
Chief Lending OJici>r 

Frank Deaton 
Siwior Vice Prtwikrtt and C:'hief'AudiJifor 

Margaret D. Pctcrson 
Senior Vice Prevident and 
ChiLf Humun Revources Ojficer 

Dcvon Woolcock 
Sc.riioi* Vice President und 
Chi</ of Hctail Rcmking 

75 West 125th Strcet 
Ncw York, N Y  

142 Malcolin X Roiilevard 
New York, NY 

1009 Nostrand Avenue 
Brooklyn, NY 

1281 Fulton Street 
Brooklyn, NY 

I 15-02 Mcrrick Boulevard 
St. Albans, NY 

General lnforrnation 

lNL>LPLht>FNT A\ll)I I O K \  

KPMG LLP 
757 Third Avenue 
New York, NY 10017 

I'XTFRNAIL C'OUNSI L 

Thacher Proffitt & Wood 
I 1  West 42nd Strcct 
New York, NY 10036 

Tl< ANWLK A(iF,NT 
American Stock Transfer serves as Transfer 
Agcnt ,and Kegistrar. Stockholders wishing to 
change the namc, address or owncrship of 
stock, to report lost certiticates or to 
consolidate accounts should contact: 

American Stock Transfer &r Tnist Co. 
S9 Maiden Lane 
New York,  NY 10038 
Stockholdcrs Services: 1 -X00-937-5449 

(NY Stockholders: 212-930-5 100) 

ANNIIAI  MI.LIIN(,  
The 2003 Atinual Meeting of Stockholdcrs 
will be held on Septcmber 22, 2003 at 1O:OO 
a.m. at Thc Studio Museum in Harlem, 144 
Wcst 125th Strect, Ncw York, N Y  10027. 

ANNUAL l < L Y O K T  O N  FORM 1O-K 
Tlic Company has filed an annual 
report on Form 10-K for its fiscal 
year cndcd March 3 I ,  2003 with the 
SEC. Stockholders and othcr 
interested partics inay obtain, frcc of 
charge, a copy of such annual report 
(excluding cxhibits) and additional 
information hy writing to William 
Gray, Scnior Vice Prcsidcnt and 
Chief Financial Officer, C'arvcr 
Bancorp, Inc., 75 West 12Sth Street, 
New York, NY 10027, or 
telephoning (212) 876-4747 ext. 
163. 

C'KLDITS 
Thanks to: Patune Pres.s, Inc. 

ABOUT THF C'nVl I< 

Carvcr's new logo was dcsigned by 
Blur Advertising, Inc. I t  i s  thc 
image of two "C"s connected at 
their rcspective centcrs. This 
depiction rcprcscnts the iiiextricable 
link between Carvcr and the 
communities i t  servcs. The logo is a 
modern trcatment of thc ancient 
African syrnhol for unity and 
symholr7cs the evolution of Carver. 



ARVER BANCORP, INC. 
Corporate Headquarters: 
75 West 125'~ Street 
New York, NY 10027 

Please visit our wcbsitc at: www.carverbank.com 

http://www.carverbank.com

